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Chairman’s Statement
Dear Shareholders,
For the year ended 31 March 2014 (the “Year”), Computime Group Limited (“Computime” or the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) achieved record sales, drove hard won margin improvement, expanded our
worldwide footprint and continued an aggressive launch of advanced new products. Our commitment to quality and
reliability also led to high levels of customer satisfaction.
Computime achieved a new sales record during the Year with the Group’s turnover increasing by 11.4% to HK$2.8
billion. Consolidated net profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to HK$33.9 million for the Year,
compared with HK$31.1 million last year.
This strong performance was led by our far reaching operating strategy for managing manufacturing costs, expanding
product lines and markets, and steadily increasing labour efficiency. The successes aside, a sluggish global economic
recovery continued to impact certain customers and markets with this year’s reported net profit of HK$33.9 million
reflecting an impairment loss of HK$65.9 million due to the insolvency of a major customer.
Operating cash flows totalled HK$136.8 million for the Year. These dollars funded important geographic and product
expansions, delivering value directly to our shareholders (“Shareholders”).

Outlook
Computime will continue its laser-like focus to promote operating excellence and customer service while at the same time
looking to the future and making necessary investments to expand our customer base. The future is filled with uncertainty
- fiscal, economic and political - and these can erode customer demand, interfere with effective planning and disrupt
prices. Against this unsettled backdrop, we are as positive as ever about the Group’s future prospects. We are sure about
the quality, reliability and innovations driving our products. We are also proud of the talent and commitment of our
employees, the capacity and efficiency of our production facilities and the depth of our overall strategy.

Appreciation
I would like to express my gratitude to our customers, business partners and Shareholders for their continuous support
to the Group throughout the Year. I wish also to commend my fellow directors (“Directors”), our management and
employees for their dedication and efforts towards the continued success of the Group.

Auyang Ho
Chairman
Hong Kong, 26 June 2014
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Management Discussion and Analysis
Summary of Results
The Group reached a new turnover record during the Year. For the twelve months ended 31 March 2014, net sales were
HK$2,814,290,000, an increase of 11.4%, compared to HK$2,526,587,000 in the same period of 2013. The consolidated
net profit attributable to owners of the Company was HK$33,874,000 for the Year, increasing by 8.9% compared to
HK$31,111,000 for the year ended 31 March 2013. Basic earnings per share for the Year amounted to 4.1 HK cents,
compared to 3.7 HK cents last year.

Business Review and Financial Highlights
Turnover

For the twelve months ended 31 March 2014, net sales were HK$2,814,290,000, an increase of 11.4% compared to
HK$2,526,587,000 in the same period of 2013. The increase in turnover achieved a historical sales record for the Group
and was primarily due to the Commercial and Industrial Controls business momentum in the Asian market. Furthermore,
the Group kept generic growth in its Appliance Controls business due to continued improvement in European market.

Profitability and Margin

Gross profit for the twelve months ended 31 March 2014 was HK$336,879,000, an increase of 30.6%, compared to
HK$257,970,000 in the same period of last year. Gross profit margin for the twelve months ended 31 March 2014
was 12.0%, an increase of 1.8 percentage points, compared to 10.2% for the same period of last year. The Company
improved its turnover and net income mainly through increased Control Systems business sales as well as the Branded
business “SALUS” revenue which grew 43% on new products with higher profit margins. The Company also tightened
cost control through streamlining the organisational structure, reducing headcount, and success in material cost reduction
and labour efficiency.
As a result of the increase in turnover and gross profit margin, consolidated net profit attributable to owners of the
Company increased by 8.9% to HK$33,874,000 as compared with HK$31,111,000 in last year, despite the impairment
of trade receivables of HK$65,904,000 from the Fagor Group, comprising Fagor Electrodomesticos Sociedad Cooperativa,
FagorBrandt SAS, and Fagor Mastercook S.A., during the Year. The Group recorded other income of HK$15,640,000
for the Year, compared with HK$14,339,000 in last year mainly due to the increased income from the sale of unused
materials.
Included in other operating income/(expenses), net, is the impairment of trade receivables of HK$66,038,000, of which
HK$65,904,000 relates to the trade receivables from the Fagor Group.
On 13 November 2013, Fagor Electrodomesticos Sociedad Cooperativa, a company incorporated under the laws of
Spain, submitted a petition to open formal insolvency proceedings (concurso) before the Commercial Court No. 1 of San
Sebastian (Spain). The Court opened the insolvency proceedings on 19 November 2013.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

FagorBrandt SAS, a company incorporated under the laws of France, was subject to reorganisation proceedings
(redressement judiciaire) before the Commercial Court of Nanterre (France) since 7 November 2013. Subsequent to the
end of the reporting period, on 11 April 2014, the Commercial Court of Nanterre (France) converted the reorganisation
proceedings into liquidation proceedings. On 15 April 2014, the Commercial Court of Nanterre (France) approved various
bids for the assets of Fagorbrandt SAS, including the bid of Cevital. Cevital will acquire most of the assets of Fagorbrandt
SAS. Fagorbrandt SAS will enter into the asset purchase agreements with the bidders in the coming months.
On 31 October 2013, Fagor Mastercook S.A., a company incorporated under the laws of Poland, submitted a petition
to open formal insolvency proceedings (concurso) before the Commercial Court No. 1 of San Sebastian (Spain). The
Court opened the insolvency proceedings on 19 November 2013. On 18 February 2014, the Polish Court in Wroclaw
opened the secondary proceedings of Fagor Mastercook S.A. These proceedings under the EC Regulation 1346/2000 are
liquidation proceedings.
After the impairment of HK$65,904,000, the Group’s net trade receivables from the Fagor Group amounted to a net
carrying amount of HK$14,624,000.
Segment margin decreased to 2.5% for the Year, compared to 2.9% in last year, which was mainly due to the
impairment of trade receivables of HK$65,904,000 in Appliance Controls business. Excluding the impairment of trade
receivable, the segment margin of the Group was 4.9% and the segment margin for Appliance Controls business was
2.4% for the Year compared to 1.8% in the prior year. The significant increase in segment margin of Building and Home
Controls business was due to the increase in branded SALUS business with growth of 43% on new products sales. The
Group also recorded improvement in segment margin for Commercial and Industrial Controls business, which was due to
the increase of new customers with higher margin orders and a phase out of relatively low margin orders.

Outlook
Fiscal 2014 was a challenging year with lingering headwinds against a gradual return to strong growth in energy-saving
control solutions. The Group will continue its strategy to enlarge its worldwide customer base, targeting higher profit
margin markets, further expanding into European and Asian markets in order to sustain growth momentum in the
controls and smart home business.
The Group will continue to place significant emphasis on strengthening its research and development capabilities,
specifically on wireless technologies and branded business that are both consistently gaining market acceptance in the
overall control business.
Although the operating environment for manufacturing in Mainland China remains challenging with increases in
wages, inflation and appreciation of Renminbi (“RMB”), the Group anticipates continued improvement in demand
from key customers. Gradual improvement in the rate of growth in new business worldwide and particularly signs of a
strengthening US market are also promising.
The Group will continue its tight cost controls and improvements in operating efficiency and productivity to bring more
to the bottom line as the worldwide recovery move to full throttle. The Group will also continue its efforts to achieve
product mix optimisation, as it proceeds with the rollout of higher margin smart energy and wireless innovations to
solidify its expansion into attractive new customers markets to drive its business growth.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Due to the high level of competition in the market for control and smart home business, the Company’s management
expects its customer orders will continue to fluctuate and its gross profit will also be under sustain pressure in the coming
year. The Company may also continue to face certain risks including the appreciation of RMB, inflation in China, labour
shortage, materials shortage, customers and suppliers’ difficulty in meeting contractual obligations. These risks and others
could affect the Group’s sales, profit margin and investments.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure
The Group continued to maintain a sound financial and liquidity position in the Year. As at 31 March 2014, the Group
maintained a balance of cash and cash equivalents of HK$590,907,000, which were mainly denominated either in United
States dollars (“US dollars”) or Hong Kong dollars, and HK$238,476,000 were denominated in RMB. Overall, the Group
maintained a robust current ratio of 1.93 times.
As at 31 March 2014, total interest-bearing bank borrowings were HK$320,618,000, comprised primarily of bank loans
repayable within one year. The majority of these borrowings were denominated either in US dollars, Hong Kong dollars or
Euro zone currencies and the interest rates applied were primarily subject to floating rate terms.
As at 31 March 2014, total equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted to HK$1,076,837,000. The Group
had a net cash balance of HK$270,289,000, representing total cash and cash equivalents less total interest-bearing bank
borrowings such that no gearing ratio applies.

Treasury Policies
The majority of the Group’s sales and purchases are denominated in US dollars and Hong Kong dollars with Euro zone
currencies comprising a lesser extent. Due to the fact that the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the US dollar, the Group’s
exposure to this foreign exchange risk is relatively low. Certain production and operating overheads of the Group’s
production facilities in Mainland China are denominated in RMB. As at 31 March 2014, the Group did not have any
outstanding financial instruments entered into for hedging purposes. Nevertheless, the Group will closely monitor
its overall foreign exchange exposure and interest rate exposure and will adopt a proactive but prudent approach to
minimise the relevant exposures when necessary.

Capital Expenditure and Commitments
During the Year, the Group incurred total capital expenditure of approximately HK$77,575,000 for additions to property,
plant and equipment as well as for deferred expenditures associated with the development of new products.
As at 31 March 2014, the Group had capital commitments contracted but not provided for the amount of HK$3,894,000,
mainly for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

Charges on Assets
As at 31 March 2014, no bank deposits and other assets have been pledged to secure the Group’s banking facilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 March 2014, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

Employee Information
As at 31 March 2014, the Group had a total of approximately 4,000 full-time employees. Total staff costs for the Year
amounted to HK$289,174,000. Salaries and wages are generally reviewed on an annual basis in accordance with
individual qualifications and performance, the Group’s results and market conditions. The Group provides year-end double
pay, discretionary bonus, medical insurance, provident fund, educational subsidy and training to its employees. The
Company has also adopted a share option scheme under which the Company can grant options to, inter alia, employees
of the Group to subscribe for shares of the Company with a view to rewarding those who have contributed to the Group
and encouraging employees to work towards enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for the benefit of the
Company and its Shareholders as a whole. Up to the date of this report, 21,026,000 share options remained outstanding
under the share option scheme.
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Corporate Social Responsibilities
As a responsible and caring corporate citizen, the Group has long been committed to giving back to the communities in
which it conducts business. Whilst striving for business development, the Group also places high priority on supporting
community affairs and environmental protection as well as sustaining fair employment practice to shoulder its social
responsibilities.

Community
The Group proactively participates in community services to strengthen its ties with the society. Our community initiatives
emphasise providing learning opportunities for young people and helping the underprivileged as we have done in the
past. This year, the Group continued to provide opportunity to students for gaining work experience and sharing with our
employees, and act as a channel for the youth to gain earlier exposure to the business world.

Environment
The Group spares no effort in environmental protection to aid the combat of global climate change. We uphold the high
standards of our environmental policy across all facets of operations. Apart from conserving energy, preventing pollution
and recycling reusable materials where practicable during the course of manufacturing and daily operation, the Group is
dedicated to research and develop green technologies and solutions for applications which are environmentally friendly
and energy efficient. The Group forms collaborative partnerships with universities and organisations globally and shares
research results in renewable energy and environmental protection.

Employees
The Group recognises that human capital is a key asset to the sustained growth and overall success of its business. In
attracting and developing the right people, the Group places great emphasis on providing continuous training and
personal development opportunities for our staff such that they are equipped with the professional skills and knowledge
to carry out their responsibilities to the highest standards.
Besides, the Group recognises the contributions of its employees and treats each individual employee fairly and
consistently in all matters, with a uniform application of the following human philosophies:
1.

Working environment and conditions provided are fair, equitable and competitive.

2.

Employees are always encouraged to well-equip themselves for the present job and future development of the
Group.

Computime Group Limited | Annual Report 2013/2014

9

Corporate Social Responsibilities (continued)

3.

Two-way communications between employees and the management are promoted as a mean of building mutual
understanding and trust.

4.

Workplace safety is given top priority to protect human health and enable employees to deliver their best
performance.

5.

The protection of human rights in employment is supported, as guided by relevant internationally accepted
principles such as those in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights.

6.

Employee’s freedom of speech and association are respected as long as they are within the legal boundaries.
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Profile of Directors, Senior Management and Company Secretary
Directors
Executive Directors

Auyang Ho, aged 82
Mr. Auyang is an executive Director, Chairman of the board of Directors (the “Board”), chairman of both the executive
committee and nomination committee and a member of the remuneration committee of the Company. He is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Besides, Mr. Auyang is a director and a shareholder of Solar Power Group
Limited, the controlling shareholder of the Company. He is an elder brother of Dr. Owyang King, the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company and father-in-law of Mr. Au Hing Lun, Dennis, Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
He co-founded the Group in 1974. Mr. Auyang graduated from the South China Institute of Technology (now known
as the South China University of Technology), where he studied structural engineering. Mr. Auyang has more than 30
years of experience in manufacturing operations, product management and development in the electronics industry. Prior
to founding the Group, Mr. Auyang has been an engineer in the Ministry of Railways of the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”). During the period from April 1965 to January 1973, he worked in the group of The Hong Kong Chiap Hua
Manufactory Company, (1947) Limited (now known as “Chiaphua Limited”) (this group is hereinafter referred to as
“Chiap Hua Group”). He had served as an Assistant Plant Manager of the extrusion plant for The Hong Kong Chiap Hua
Manufactory Company, (1947) Limited from April 1965 to December 1970. From January to September 1970, he acted
as a Project Manager for International Containers Limited (a company formed by Chiap Hua Group and another party and
has now been dissolved) and was responsible for supervising and co-ordinating the setting-up of a new manufacturing
plant and all the facilities. In September 1970, he was formally promoted as the Plant Manager of International Containers
Limited and held the position until he left Chiap Hua Group in January 1973. He then formed the Group and under his
leadership, the Group received The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong New Product Award in 1976. Mr.
Auyang has been instrumental in spearheading the Group’s expansion and has secured many key customers since 1980
up to 2003. He currently acts as an advisor to our Chief Executive Officer and senior management and provides guidance
on management issues.
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Profile of Directors, Senior Management and Company Secretary (continued)

Owyang King, aged 68
Dr. Owyang is an executive Director, the Chief Executive Officer and a member of the executive committee of the
Company. He is a younger brother of Mr. Auyang Ho, the Chairman of the Company. Mr. Au Hing Lun, Dennis, the
Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Company, is a son-in-law of Mr. Auyang. Accordingly, Dr. Owyang is an uncle
of Mr. Au. Dr. Owyang joined the Group in April 2010. He obtained a degree of Bachelor of Science in Physics and a
degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the field of Materials Science from Massachusetts Institute of Technology, United
States in 1968 and 1974, respectively. Dr. Owyang joined General Electric Company as a member of technical staff in
1974 and held various technical and managerial positions, including directing research and development activities for the
Semiconductor Division. Dr. Owyang was responsible for developing many enabling semiconductor technologies, including
the world’s first 500V Power Integrated Circuit and Insulated Gate Bipolar Transistor technologies. Dr. Owyang received
the company’s prestigious Outstanding Achievement Award in 1981. In 1988, Dr. Owyang joined Siliconix Incorporated in
California as Vice President of Research and Development and directed the work of 70 scientists, engineers and technical
staff in the area of electronic devices, circuits, processing technology and packaging development. He was promoted to
Executive Vice President in 1992 and assumed additional responsibility for all Silicon Operations where he restructured
the engineering resources and Wafer Fab Operations to enhance the technical capability and overall productivity. He
turned the company from a technology follower and position-losing firm to a highly profitable company with industry
leading products. In 1997, Dr. Owyang was promoted to the position of President and Chief Executive Officer. Under
his leadership and management, the company has firmly established itself as the world leader in power switching and
management products and its sales grew to a record level in 2008. Dr. Owyang is a recognised leader in the Power Metaloxide Semiconductor Field-effect Transistor Industry. He has published over 20 technical papers and has been awarded
more than 25 patents. He received the Industry IR100 Award in 1979 and 1983 based on his pioneering works in silicon
power device technologies and products. Dr. Owyang has also been listed in the “National Register’s WHO’S WHO in
Executives and Professionals”, which demonstrates his recognisable success in the field. He currently also serves as a
director of Alpha and Omega Semiconductor Limited, a company listed on the NASDAQ Stock Market.
Au Hing Lun, Dennis, aged 54
Mr. Au is an executive Director, the Deputy Chief Executive Officer and a member of the executive committee of the
Company. Mr. Au is a son-in-law of Mr. Auyang Ho, the Chairman of the Company. Dr. Owyang King, the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company and younger brother of Mr. Auyang, is accordingly an uncle of Mr. Au. Mr. Au
joined the Group in May 2014 to head up the newly established Trading Division. He has over 30 years of experience in
accounting, finance, consultancy, business development and general management spanning manufacturing, technology
and real estate industries. Mr. Au commenced his career at the tax division of Arthur Andersen & Co (1983 to 1988)
specialising in Hong Kong, China and US taxation. He joined Andersen Consulting (now known as “Accenture plc”) in
North America in 1988, responsible for IT system design and integration projects for governments and multinational
companies. In 1994, Mr. Au joined Wing Tai Properties Limited (“Wing Tai” and, together with its subsidiaries, collectively
the “Wing Tai Group”) (formerly known as “USI Holdings Limited”) serving as chief financial officer, and he also served
as the company secretary of Wing Tai from 1996 to 2006. Wing Tai is a conglomerate listed on the main board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). He joined the board of Wing Tai as an executive director
in 2004 and became managing director of the Wing Tai Group’s property division in 2006 and has been responsible for
the Wing Tai Group’s corporate finance function. Mr. Au resigned as an executive director of Wing Tai and managing
director of the Wing Tai Group’s property division with effect from 6 May 2014. He was also an executive director of the
Wing Tai Group’s subsidiary, Winsor Properties Holdings Limited (now known as “Vanke Property (Overseas) Limited”, a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange) from 2007 to 2012. Mr. Au is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. He has a Master of Business Administration degree from the University of Hong Kong
and a Bachelor of Science degree from Dalhousie University, Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada.
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Profile of Directors, Senior Management and Company Secretary (continued)

Non-Executive Directors

Kam Chi Chiu, Anthony, aged 52
Mr. Kam is a non-executive Director and a member of the audit committee of the Company. Mr. Kam is a fellow of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales. He holds a Bachelor’s degree and a Master’s degree in Mathematics from the University of Oxford in the
United Kingdom. He qualified as a chartered accountant at one of the accounting firms in London and currently practices
as a certified public accountant in Hong Kong. Mr. Kam has the suitable experience and qualifications to act as nominee
for the implementation and administration of an individual voluntary arrangement under the bankruptcy regime in
Hong Kong. Mr. Kam has been appointed as a mentor under the Social Enterprises Mentorship Scheme. Mr. Kam was
appointed as a non-executive Director of the Group in November 1993.
Arvind Amratlal Patel, aged 73
Mr. Patel is a non-executive Director and a member of the audit committee of the Company. He was appointed as a nonexecutive Director of the Group in November 2005. Mr. Patel has retired with 40 years of experience with several U.S.–
based public and private manufacturing companies. After earning his Bachelor’s degree in Electrical Engineering from
The Maharaja Sayajirao University of Baroda in India, Mr. Patel immigrated to United States to pursue further studies.
He began his professional career with Culligan International in 1966. After working with certain smaller companies, he
returned to a management position at Culligan International in 1971 while simultaneously earning his Master’s degree
in Business Administration from Loyola University Chicago. He then joined Intermatic Incorporated, an international
manufacturer of electrical and electronic products. During his 20 years at Intermatic Incorporated, Mr. Patel held
several executive positions, including president and chief operating officer, until his retirement in 2005. In addition to
the management positions, Mr. Patel was elected to the boards of Intermatic Incorporated and Intermatic – A.T.C., a
manufacturing joint venture in China, from July 2000 until his retirement in December 2005. Since his retirement from
full time business activities, Mr. Patel became a partner and a member of the board of directors of TADD LLC, a privately
held company engaged in design, manufacture and distribution of LED retro-fit lighting products in the U.S.A. In January
2011, Mr. Patel was elected to the board of directors of Rogan Corporation, a privately held company engaged in
design, manufacture and distribution of sophisticated injection molded plastic components for industrial and consumer
applications. He resigned from this position in April 2012.
Wong Chun Kong, aged 53
Mr. Wong is a non-executive Director of the Company. He is a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong and a Partner
of Philip K H Wong, Kennedy Y H Wong & Co., Solicitors & Notaries. Mr. Wong was educated in both Hong Kong and
England. He has substantial experience in civil litigation and deals mainly in commercial, personal injuries, banking and
administrative law litigation, corporate acquisition, cross-border joint ventures etc.. He had served as a Deputy Adjudicator
of the Small Claims Tribunal in 1998 and as an Adjudicator of the Registration of Persons Tribunal of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region during period from March 2005 to February 2011. He is now a Deputy Chief Adjudicator of the
Registration of Persons Tribunal and a panel member of the Municipal Services Appeals Board of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region. Mr. Wong has been a non-executive Director of the Company since February 2008.
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Profile of Directors, Senior Management and Company Secretary (continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Luk Koon Hoo, aged 62, BBS, JP
Mr. Luk is an independent non-executive Director of the Company, the chairman of the audit committee and a member
of both the remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Company. He is a retired banker, and has 30
years of comprehensive experience in accounting and financial management. He began at Hang Seng Bank in 1975
as a trainee officer. He was appointed as personal assistant to the deputy general manager and held that office from
1987 to 1989. Mr. Luk served as the head of financial control in 1989, as director and deputy chief executive in 1994
and as managing director and deputy chief executive from 1996 to his retirement in May 2005. Regarding Mr. Luk’s
other directorships, he is an independent non-executive director of China Properties Group Limited, Hung Hing Printing
Group Limited and i-Cable Communications Limited (companies listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange) and is
an independent non-executive director of AXA General Insurance Hong Kong Limited and Octopus Cards Limited. Mr.
Luk also serves as a council member and the treasurer of The Chinese University of Hong Kong and a member of Town
Planning Board. Mr. Luk also served in the past on the Court and Council of Hong Kong Baptist University, the Advisory
Committee on New Broadbased Taxes, the Personal Data (Privacy) Advisory Committee, the Central Policy Unit of the
Hong Kong Government, the Statistics Advisory Board, the Broadcasting Authority, the Board of Trustees of the Sir
Edward Youde Memorial Fund and the Advisory Committee, the Investor Education Advisory Committee of the Securities
and Futures Commission (“SFC”), Barristers Disciplinary Tribunal Panel and the Operations Review Committee of ICAC.
He was an appointed member of the Hong Kong Legislative Council from 1992 to 1995, and also a member of the
first Election Committee of the Legislative Council. He holds a Bachelor of Social Sciences Degree in Statistics from The
University of Hong Kong and a Master of Business Administration Degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.
He is a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Bankers. Mr. Luk is a Non-official Justice of the Peace and was awarded the
honour of Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2004 in recognition of his contributions to public services. Mr. Luk was appointed as a
non-executive Director of the Group in January 2006.
Patrick Thomas Siewert, aged 58
Mr. Siewert is an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of
both the audit committee and nomination committee of the Company. He currently serves as a director for the Avery
Dennison Corporation, a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange, and on the audit and finance committees. He
is also a managing director of The Carlyle Group. Prior to joining The Carlyle Group in April 2007, Mr. Siewert served as
a senior advisor for The Coca-Cola Company and president and chief operating officer for its East, South Asia & Pacific
Rim Group and president for its East and South Asia Group during the period from 2001 to 2007. From 1974 to 2001,
Mr. Siewert held positions in sales management, marketing, finance, brand management, business planning and general
management in various countries around the world including chairman, Greater China and senior vice president and
president, Kodak Professional. He attended the Rochester Institute of Technology studying Imaging Science, Business and
Service Management, and received a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration from Elmhurst College and a Master
of Science degree in Service Management from Rochester Institute of Technology. He has previously served as a director
of US-ASEAN Business Council, US-Hong Kong Business Council, The US-China Business Council and board of governors
of The American Chamber of Commerce in Hong Kong. He is also a member of the Young Presidents’ Organization,
Hong Kong, World Presidents’ Organization, Hong Kong and the Chief Executives Organization. Mr. Siewert is a recipient
of several diversity awards and a United Nations IPC Lifetime Achievement Award. Mr. Siewert currently serves as a nonexecutive director of Natural Beauty Bio-Technology Limited, a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
and China Fishery Group Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange of Singapore and is an independent nonexecutive director of Mondelez International, Inc., a company listed on the NASDAQ Stock Market. Mr. Siewert was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director of the Company in September 2006.
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Profile of Directors, Senior Management and Company Secretary (continued)

Cheung Ching Leung, David, aged 46
Mr. Cheung is an independent non-executive Director and a member of both the audit committee and remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Cheung is currently a Chief Investment Officer of OP Investment Management
Limited (“OP Management”), a licensed entity with the SFC. OP Management is held by OP Financial Investments
Limited, which is listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1140). Mr. Cheung has over seventeen
years of fund management experience. Prior to joining OP Management, Mr. Cheung held senior positions at CITIC
Securities International Investment Management (HK) Limited and Aetos Capital Management (Asia) Limited. He was an
Investment Director at Prudential Asset Management (Hong Kong) Limited and responsible for their Greater China equity
investments. Prior to that, Mr. Cheung was a Fund Manager at Chase Asset Management Limited, the fund management
arm of Chase Manhattan Bank. Mr. Cheung currently serves as a member of the Investment Committee of the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. Previously, Mr. Cheung was a member of the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange from
2006 to 2007 and was also a member of the SFC Public Shareholders Group and the SFC Dual Filing Advisory Group.
Mr. Cheung obtained a Master’s degree in economics from York University, Canada and a Bachelor’s degree in monetary
economics from the London School of Economics and Political Science, UK. Mr. Cheung is a holder of the Chartered
Financial Analyst designation awarded by the CFA Institute. Mr. Cheung was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company in October 2011.
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Senior Management
B. Gene Patton, aged 62
Mr. Patton is the Chief Financial Officer of the Group. He is responsible for the overall management of the financial
structure and treasury function of the Group while identifying, evaluating and negotiating worldwide acquisition
activities. Mr. Patton is a fellow member of The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has over 25 years
of experience in corporate finance, business development, and merger and acquisition activities and has held positions
as controller and vice president of finance for a number of international publicly traded companies before joining us
in March 2008. Mr. Patton obtained his Bachelor Degree in Accounting and Finance from The George Washington
University in 1979.
Ha Wai Leung, aged 55
Dr. Ha is the Executive Vice President of technologies of the Group, and also the President of Cincinnati Holdings Limited,
a subsidiary of the Group. He is a chartered engineer and a member of The Institute of Measurement and Control, The
Institution of Engineering and Technology as well as The Institution of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, with over
30 years of working experience in engineering and research and development. Prior to joining us in October 1998,
he worked as senior management in research and development in various electronics companies in Hong Kong and
Singapore. He obtained an Engineering Doctorate’s Degree in Engineering Management from City University of Hong
Kong, a Master’s Degree in Electronic Systems Design from the City University of Hong Kong, a Master’s Degree in
Engineering from The University of Hong Kong, and an Associateship and Higher Diploma in Electrical Engineering from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
Phillip John Stevens Cox, aged 68
Since joining us in 2001 Mr. Cox has been instrumental in the success of key business initiatives for the company, most
recently SALUS Controls Ltd. His new responsibilities as VP Business Development include identifying, evaluating and
developing business opportunities which support the Company’s profit objectives and global business strategies. Mr. Cox
obtained his Bachelor’s degree from The University of New South Wales, Australia in 1966, followed by post-graduate
studies at the University of Melbourne. He is a recognised public speaker on global business and people skills. Mr. Cox’s
business career cuts across a range of vertical sectors including industrial, commercial and consumer markets. He has
extensive experience owning and operating product distribution companies and has managed business units for multinational companies in North America, Europe and Asia.
Or Tak Chuen, aged 57
Mr. Or is the Vice President of the Control Solutions Division. He joined us in 2013 and is responsible for the overall
management of our Strategic Business Units and product development activities. Mr. Or has over 30 years of experience
in the Electronics industry serving various roles in business and operation management. His last position before joining
us was Senior Vice President of a Hong Kong listed EMS company where he was responsible for Sales & Marketing with
P&L accountability. Mr. Or obtained a Master’s degree in Business Administration and a Bachelor’s degree in Mechanical
Engineering from The University of Hong Kong.
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Hong Chin Lu, aged 66
Mr. Hong is the Vice President of the Manufacturing. He joined us in 2013 and is responsible for leading our
manufacturing operation and our PRC facilities. He has over 35 years of manufacturing experience in semiconductor
company and held senior operation position prior to joining us. Mr. Hong graduated from National Chiao Tung University,
Hsinchu, Taiwan with Bachelor’s and Master’s degrees in Electronic Engineering.
Nguyen Minh Van, aged 57
Mr. Nguyen joined the Company in 2011 and is the Vice President of Controlling. He is responsible for budgeting and
controlling. Mr. Nguyen is a fellow member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Nguyen
graduated from the University of New Orleans, USA with a bachelor degree in Accounting, and has a Master in Business
Administration in Finance from the University of Santa Clara, USA. He has over 35 years of experience in finance,
accounting, controlling, investor relations and M&A, and had worked for several publicly listed international companies in
the USA, including Siemens, Vishay and Siliconix.
Lau Shui Fung, aged 47
Mr. Lau joined us in 2013 as the Vice President of Finance. Mr. Lau possesses over 20 years of extensive experience in
accounting, auditing and finance, and brings over 10 years of experience in high technology US Listed companies. He
has hands-on experience on financial operation in manufacturing process, costing, SOX Compliance, US & HK Listed
Financial Reporting, Corporate Governance, US & PRC-GAAP & Project management of SAP system implementation. Prior
to joining us, he has worked with Nam Tai Electronics, Inc. for over 11 years since November 2001 and has been the
Group Financial Controller/Vice President Finance and Corporate Secretary of that company. Mr. Lau is a Fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a CPA of CPA Australia and an Associate of Association
of International Accountants. He graduated in 1997 from The University of Southern Queensland with a Bachelor of
Commerce in Accounting and received a Master of Professional Accounting Degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2009.
Leung Man Sze, Bendick, aged 58
Mr. Leung is the Vice President of quality of the Group. He joined us in 2010. Before joining us, he had been working as
key positions in various business units in Philips for almost 20 years. He has extensive experience in quality management,
process engineering, manufacturing operation as well as product design and supply base management. Mr. Leung
obtained a Master’s degree in Business Administration from the Open University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor of Science
Degree in Mechanical Engineering from the University of Calgary, Alberta, Canada.

Company Secretary
Soon Yuk Tai, aged 48
Ms. Soon was appointed as the Secretary of the Company in April 2007. She is a director of the Corporate Services
Division of Tricor Services Limited, a global professional services provider specialising in integrated business, corporate
and investor services. Ms. Soon is a Chartered Secretary and Fellow of both the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators in United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. Apart from the Company, Ms.
Soon has been providing professional secretarial services to many listed companies.
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Report of the Directors
The Board is pleased to present this report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2014.

Principal Activities and Geographical Analysis of Operations
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The subsidiaries of the Company are primarily engaged in
the research and development, design, manufacture and trading of electronic control products. There was no significant
change in the Group’s principal activities during the Year.
An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business and geographical segments is set out in note 4 to the
financial statements.

Results and Appropriations
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2014 and the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group
as at that date are set out in the sections headed “Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss”, “Statement of Financial
Position” and “Consolidated Statement of Financial Position” respectively in this annual report.
The Board has resolved to recommend to the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
to be held on Thursday, 18 September 2014 (the “2014 AGM”) a final dividend of 2 HK cents per share for the Year (the
“Proposed Final Dividend”) to be paid on Thursday, 9 October 2014 to those Shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Tuesday, 30 September 2014.

Closure of Register of Members
(a)

Entitlement to attend and vote at the 2014 AGM

(b)

Entitlement to the Proposed Final Dividend
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The 2014 AGM is scheduled to be held on Thursday, 18 September 2014. For determining the entitlement to
attend and vote at the 2014 AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 16
September 2014 to Thursday, 18 September 2014, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
of the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2014 AGM, unregistered
holders of shares of the Company should ensure that all share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712–1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 15 September 2014.

The Proposed Final Dividend is subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the 2014 AGM. For determining
the entitlement to the Proposed Final Dividend, the register of members of the Company will also be closed from
Friday, 26 September 2014 to Tuesday, 30 September 2014, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer
of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to qualify for entitlement to the Proposed Final Dividend,
unregistered holders of shares of the Company should ensure that all share transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712–1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 25 September
2014.
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Reserves
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during the year are set out in the section headed
“Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity” in this annual report and note 31 to the financial statements respectively.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the
financial statements.

Share Capital
Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 29 to the financial statements.

Distributable Reserves
Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 March 2014, calculated in accordance with statutory provisions
applicable in the Cayman Islands, amounted to HK$836,003,000 (before deduction of the proposed final dividend of
HK$16,600,000).

Bank Borrowings
Particulars of the bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2014 are set out in note 27 to the financial statements.

Pension Scheme
The pension scheme contributions are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association (the “Articles of Association”)
or the laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing
Shareholders.
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Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the previous financial years is set out in the
section headed “Financial Summary” in this annual report.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed Securities
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the Year.

Directors
The directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Auyang Ho (Chairman)
Dr. Owyang King (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Au Hing Lun, Dennis (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)

(appointed on 7 May 2014)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Kam Chi Chiu, Anthony
Mr. Arvind Amratlal Patel
Mr. Wong Chun Kong

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Luk Koon Hoo
Mr. Patrick Thomas Siewert
Mr. Cheung Ching Leung, David

In accordance with article 86(3) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Au Hing Lun, Dennis, who has been appointed as an
executive director of the Company with effect from 7 May 2014, will retire at the 2014 AGM. In addition, pursuant to
article 87 of the Articles of Association, Dr. Owyang King, Mr. Kam Chi Chiu, Anthony and Mr. Luk Koon Hoo will retire
from office by rotation at the 2014 AGM.
All the above four retiring directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 2014 AGM.
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Independence Confirmation
The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from Mr. Luk Koon Hoo, Mr. Patrick Thomas Siewert
and Mr. Cheung Ching Leung, David pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on the Stock Exchange. The Company considers all of these independent non-executive directors remain
independent as at the date of this report.

Directors’ Service Contracts
None of the directors being proposed for re-election at the 2014 AGM has a service agreement with the Company,
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts
Save as disclosed in note 35 to the financial statements, no contract of significance in relation to the Group’s businesses
to which the Company, its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party and in which a director
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
Biographical details of directors and senior management are set out under the section headed “Profile of Directors,
Senior Management and Company Secretary” in this annual report. The directors’ biographies are also available on the
Company’s website.

Directors’ and Senior Management’s Emoluments
A summary of the directors’ and senior management’s remuneration is set out in note 9 to the financial statements and
in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in this annual report respectively.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company and its Associated Corporations
As at 31 March 2014, the interests or short positions of the directors of the Company in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(“SFO”); or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in the Listing Rules were as follows:

(1)

(2)

Long position/Short position in the shares of the Company

Name of director

Capacity

Mr. Auyang Ho

Interest of a controlled
corporation
Short position of a
controlled corporation

Number of
ordinary shares
involved

*Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
issued share
capital

Long position

352,500,000 (Note)

42.46%

Short position

83,000,000 (Note)

10.00%

Long position/
Short position

Note:

The long/short positions in the shares were held by Solar Power Group Limited (“SPGL”). SPGL is a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and wholly owned by Mr. Auyang Ho.

*

The percentage represents the number of ordinary shares involved in the long/short positions divided by the number of
the Company’s issued shares as at 31 March 2014.

Long position in the underlying shares of the Company – physically settled unlisted equity
derivatives

Name of director

Capacity

Dr. Owyang King

Beneficial owner

Number of
underlying shares
in respect of
the share options
granted

*Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
issued share
capital

20,000,000

2.41%

Details of the above share options as required to be disclosed by the Listing Rules are disclosed in note 30 to the
financial statements.
*
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The percentage represents the number of underlying shares interested divided by the number of the Company’s issued
shares as at 31 March 2014.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2014, none of the directors or chief executives of the Company had any interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares
Save as disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements about the Company’s share option scheme, at no time during
the Year was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Company’s directors,
their respective spouse, or children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the
Company or any other body corporate.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of
the Company
As at 31 March 2014, the following persons (other than the directors and chief executives of the Company) had interests
or short positions of 5% or more in the shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO:

Long position/Short position in the shares of the Company

Name of substantial
shareholder

Number of
ordinary shares
involved

* Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
issued share
capital

Capacity

Long position/
Short position

SPGL

Beneficial owner
Beneficial owner

Long position
Short position

352,500,000 (Note 1)
83,000,000 (Note 1)

42.46%
10.00%

Ms. Tse Shuk Ming

Interest of spouse
Long position
Short position of spouse Short position

352,500,000 (Note 2)
83,000,000 (Note 2)

42.46%
10.00%

Crystalplaza Limited

Beneficial owner

Long position

133,500,000 (Note 3)

16.09%

Little Venice Limited

Beneficial owner

Long position

81,690,000 (Note 3)

9.84%

Ms. Leung Yee Li, Lana

Interest of controlled
corporations

Long position

215,190,000 (Note 3)

25.93%

Mr. Heung Lap Chi, Eugene Interest of spouse

Long position

215,190,000 (Note 4)

25.93%

Platinum Investment
Management Limited

Long position

44,862,000

5.41%

Investment manager
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Notes:
1.

The interest/short position of SPGL were also disclosed as the interest/short position of Mr. Auyang Ho in the above section
headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company and its
Associated Corporations”.

2.

Ms. Tse Shuk Ming was deemed to be interested in 352,500,000 shares (long position) and had a short position in 83,000,000
shares of the Company through the interest/short position of her spouse, Mr. Auyang Ho.

3.

These shares were owned by Crystalplaza Limited (as to 133,500,000 shares) and Little Venice Limited (as to 81,690,000 shares),
both companies being wholly-owned by Ms. Leung Yee Li, Lana.

4.

Mr. Heung Lap Chi, Eugene was deemed to be interested in 215,190,000 shares of the Company through the interest of his
spouse, Ms. Leung Yee Li, Lana.

*

The percentage represents the number of ordinary shares interested in the long/short positions divided by the number of the
Company’s issued shares as at 31 March 2014.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2014, no person, other than the directors of the Company whose interests/short
positions are set out in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares and
Underlying Shares of the Company and its Associated Corporations” above, had an interest or a short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO.
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Share Option Scheme
The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) on 15 September 2006. Details of the Share
Option Scheme are set out in note 30 to the financial statements.
Particulars of the movements in share options of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2014 are set out in the
table below.
Number of share options
Category of
participants

Senior
management
and other
employees in
aggregate

Director
Dr. Owyang King

Total
Note:

As at
1 April
2013

Granted
during
the year

Exercised
during
the year

Cancelled
during
the year

Lapsed
during
the year

As at
31 March
2014

402,000

–

–

–

(60,000)

342,000

27 September 2007

From 31 August 2008
to 30 August 2017

1.75

402,000

–

–

–

(60,000)

342,000

27 September 2007

From 31 August 2009
to 30 August 2017

1.75

402,000

–

–

–

(60,000)

342,000

27 September 2007

From 31 August 2010
to 30 August 2017

1.75

1,206,000

–

–

–

(180,000)

1,026,000

2,400,000

–

–

–

–

2,400,000

30 April 2010

From 30 April 2011
to 29 April 2020

1.05

2,400,000

–

–

–

–

2,400,000

30 April 2010

From 30 April 2012
to 29 April 2020

1.05

3,200,000

–

–

–

–

3,200,000

30 April 2010

From 30 April 2013
to 29 April 2020

1.05

2,400,000

–

–

–

–

2,400,000

28 June 2011

From 28 June 2012
to 27 June 2021

0.79

2,400,000

–

–

–

–

2,400,000

28 June 2011

From 28 June 2013
to 27 June 2021

0.79

3,200,000

–

–

–

–

3,200,000

28 June 2011

From 28 June 2014
to 27 June 2021

0.79

1,200,000

–

–

–

–

1,200,000

6 August 2012

From 6 August 2013
to 5 August 2022

0.375

1,200,000

–

–

–

–

1,200,000

6 August 2012

From 6 August 2014
to 5 August 2022

0.375

1,600,000

–

–

–

–

1,600,000

6 August 2012

From 6 August 2015
to 5 August 2022

0.375

20,000,000

–

–

–

–

20,000,000

21,206,000

–

–

–

Date of grant of
Exercise period of
share options (Note) share options

Exercise
price
per share
HK$

(180,000) 21,026,000

The vesting period of the share options granted is from the date of grant until the commencement of the exercise period.
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Management Contracts
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the Year.

Major Customers and Suppliers
The percentages of sales for the year ended 31 March 2014 attributable to the Group’s major customers are as follows:

Sales
–

the largest customer:

27%

–

five largest customers combined:

61%

None of the Company’s directors, their close associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major customers noted above.
The aggregate percentage of purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers in the Year was less than 30% of
the Group’s purchases.

Directors’ Interest in Competing Business
As at 31 March 2014, to the best knowledge of the directors, none of the directors was considered to have any interests
in businesses which compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, other
than those businesses where the directors were appointed as directors to represent the interests of the Company and/or
the Group.

Corporate Governance
Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” in this annual report.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee of the Company, which comprises the three independent non-executive directors of the Company,
namely, Mr. Luk Koon Hoo (Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Patrick Thomas Siewert and Mr. Cheung Ching
Leung, David, and two non-executive directors of the Company, namely, Mr. Kam Chi Chiu, Anthony and Mr. Arvind
Amratlal Patel, has reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year and discussed with the
management and the auditors of the Company on the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and on
the internal control and financial reporting matters.
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Sufficiency of Public Float
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the directors as at the
latest practicable date prior to the issue of this report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float.

Auditors
Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
2014 AGM.

Appreciation
On behalf of the Board, I would like to express my gratitude to our management and staff for their dedication and
contribution to the Group throughout the Year.
By Order of the Board

Auyang Ho
Chairman
Hong Kong, 26 June 2014
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Corporate Governance Report
The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31
March 2014.

Corporate Governance Principles and Practices of the Company
The Board believes that good corporate governance practices are important for enhancing corporate value and investors’
confidence and interests. The Company has taken a proactive approach in strengthening corporate governance practices
in accordance with the needs of the business of the Group, the cornerstone of which is to have an experienced and
committed Board and an effective internal control and to enhance its transparency and accountability to Shareholders.
The Company has applied the principles set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with the code provisions set out
in the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2014, except for the deviation from code provision A.6.7 of the CG
Code as an independent non-executive director of the Company was unable to attend the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 18 September 2013 due to other commitment.
The Board will continue to enhance the corporate governance practices and standards of the Company appropriate to the
conduct and growth of its business and to review such practices and standards regularly to ensure that they comply with
the statutory and professional standards and align with the latest developments. The key corporate governance principles
and practices of the Company are summarised as follows:

The Board of Directors
Responsibilities and Delegation

The overall management and control of the Company’s business are vested in its Board. The Board is responsible for
establishing policies, strategies and plans, providing leadership in the attainment of the objective of creating value to
Shareholders, and, on behalf of the Shareholders, overseeing the Company’s financial performance. All directors carry
out their duties in good faith and in compliance with the standards of applicable laws and regulations, take decisions
objectively and act in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders at all times.
The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material transactions (in particular
those may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.
All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as the advice and services of the senior
management, with a view to ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are followed.
Each director is normally able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expenses, upon reasonable request made to the Board.
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The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company are led by the Executive Committee and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The Board has also delegated a schedule of responsibilities to the senior
management of the Company, which include the implementation of decisions of the Board, the co-ordination and
direction of day-to-day operation and management of the Company in accordance with the management strategies
and plans approved by the Board, formulating and monitoring the production and operating plans and budgets, and
supervising and monitoring the control systems. The Board has the full support of the senior management to discharge its
responsibilities.
The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to
any significant transactions entered into by the foregoing officers and senior management.

Board Composition

As at 31 March 2014, the Board comprised eight members in total, with two executive directors, three non-executive
directors and three independent non-executive directors. The Board has at all times met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors (representing at least one-third
of its Board) with at least one independent non-executive director possessing appropriate professional qualifications and
accounting and related financial management expertise.
The list of all directors (by category) is set out under the section headed “Corporate Information” in this annual report and is
also disclosed in all corporate communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time.
The independent non-executive directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications of the Company. The
Company also has maintained on its website an updated list of its directors identifying their roles and functions.
The relationships among the members of the Board are disclosed under the section headed “Profile of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary” in this annual report.
The composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements
of the business of the Group and for the exercise of independent judgement. Each executive director supervises specific
areas of the Group’s business in accordance with his expertise. The non-executive directors are of sufficient caliber and
number for their views to carry weight and they bring a wide range of business and financial expertise, experience and
independent judgement to the Board. Through active participation in Board meetings, taking the lead in managing issues
involving potential conflicts of interests and serving on Board committees, the non-executive directors have made various
contributions to the effective direction of the Company.
The Company has received a written annual confirmation from each independent non-executive director of his
independence pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of its independent nonexecutive directors independent in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.
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The Company firmly believes that the increasing diversity at the board level is one of the essential elements in supporting
the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development, therefore, the Company has formulated Board
Diversity Policy. While determining the composition of the Board, the Company shall consider the diversity of the Board
from various perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experiences, skills, knowledge and service tenure, and finally make decisions based on the value of candidates and
contributions they can bring to the Board. All nominees proposed by the Board shall comply with the principle of
appointment based on merits and fully take into account objective conditions and benefits of diversity of the Board while
considering candidates. The Nomination Committee will report the composition of the Board at a diversity level, supervise
the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and review the policy when appropriate to ensure its effectiveness. The
Nomination Committee will discuss any amendments to the Board Diversity Policy when necessary and propose such
amendments to the Board for the approval of the Board.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

There are two key aspects of the management of the Company – the management of the Board and the day-today management of the Group’s business. The Company fully supports that there should be a clear division of these
responsibilities at the Board level to ensure a balance of power and authority, so that power is not concentrated in any
one individual.
Currently, Mr. Auyang Ho, who is the Chairman of the Board, takes up the responsibility of the management of the Board
whereas Dr. Owyang King, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, is responsible for the day-to-day management of
the Group’s business. The respective responsibilities between the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer
have been clearly established and set out in writing.

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of directors are laid down in the Articles of
Association. The Company has established a Nomination Committee, which is responsible for reviewing the Board
composition, developing and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and appointment of directors,
monitoring the appointment and succession planning of directors and assessing the independence of independent nonexecutive directors. Additional information on such Nomination Committee is set out in the “Board Committees and
Corporate Governance Functions” section below.
Each of the executive directors of the Company is engaged on a service contract with the Company for a term of three
years. The Company has also issued respective letters of appointment to its non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors specifying their term of appointment. The current term of appointment of all the non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors is 2 years.
In addition, in accordance with the Articles of Association, all the directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years and any new director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall submit
himself/herself for re-election by shareholders at the first general meeting after his/her appointment.

30

Computime Group Limited | Annual Report 2013/2014

Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Induction and Continuing Development for Directors

Each newly appointed director of the Company receives an induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment, so
as to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Group and that he/she
is fully aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.
Such induction is normally supplemented with visits to the Group’s key plant sites and/or meetings with the senior
management of the Company.
Directors of the Company are continually updated with legal and regulatory developments, and the business and market
changes to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.
Besides, continuing briefings and professional development for directors will be arranged whenever necessary.
Under code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant.
According to the records of training maintained by the Company, during the year ended 31 March 2014, all the directors
pursued continuous professional development and relevant details are set out below:
Name of Director

Type of Training (Notes)

Mr. Auyang Ho
Dr. Owyang King
Mr. Kam Chi Chiu, Anthony
Mr. Arvind Amratlal Patel
Mr. Wong Chun Kong
Mr. Luk Koon Hoo
Mr. Patrick Thomas Siewert
Mr. Cheung Ching Leung, David

A
A
A, B
A
A, B
A, B
A, B
A, B

Notes: A: reading journals, updates, articles and/or materials, etc.
B: attending seminars, conference and/or forums

Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Schedules for regular Board meetings are normally agreed with the directors in advance in order to facilitate them to
attend. In addition to the above, notice of at least 14 days is given of a regular Board meeting. For other Board meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given.
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Draft agenda of each Board meeting is usually sent to all directors together with the notice in order to give them an
opportunity to include any other matters in the agenda for discussion in the meeting.
Board papers together with appropriate, complete and reliable information are sent to all directors at least 3 days before
each Board meeting to keep the directors apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the Group,
when necessary, and to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each director also have separate and
independent access to the senior management whenever necessary.
The Chief Executive Officer and other relevant senior management normally attend regular Board meetings and, where
necessary, other Board meetings to advise on business developments, financial and accounting matters, statutory
compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects of the Group.
The Company Secretary is responsible to keep minutes of all Board meetings. Draft minutes are normally circulated to
directors for comments within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is open for directors’ inspection.
According to current Board practice, any material transaction, which involves a conflict of interest for a substantial
shareholder or a director, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting. The Articles
of Association contain provisions requiring directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at
meetings for approving transactions in which such directors or any of their close associates have a material interest.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct (the “Own Code”) regarding dealings in the securities of the
Company by the directors, senior personnel and certain employees of the Group (who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price sensitive information in relation to the Company or its securities) on terms no less exacting than the
Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Each director has been given a copy of the Own Code. The
Company will notify its directors and relevant employees in advance in respect of the restricted period on dealings in the
Company’s securities, if the period is known to the Company.
Specific enquiry has been made of the Company’s directors and all of them have confirmed that they have complied with
the required standards set out in the Model Code and the Own Code throughout the period from 1 April 2013 to the
date of this report.
In addition, no incident of non-compliance of the Own Code by the employees of the Group was noted for the period
from 1 April 2013 to the date of this report.

Board Committees and Corporate Governance Functions
The Board has established four Board committees, namely, the Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Executive Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All
Board committees have been established with defined written terms of reference, which are posted on the Company’s
website “www.computime.com”(the terms of reference of the Remuneration, Audit and Nomination Committees
are also posted on the website of the Stock Exchange) and are available to Shareholders upon request. All the Board
committees should report to the Board on their decisions or recommendations made.
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The practices, procedures and arrangements in conducting meetings of Board committees follow in line with, so far as
practicable, those of the Board meetings set out above.
All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises a total of four members, being one executive director, namely, Mr. Auyang Ho
and three independent non-executive directors, namely, Mr. Patrick Thomas Siewert, Mr. Luk Koon Hoo and Mr. Cheung
Ching Leung, David. Accordingly, a majority of the members are independent non-executive directors. The chairman of
the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Patrick Thomas Siewert.
The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
remuneration policy and structure for directors and senior management and the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no director or any of his/her
associates will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration; make recommendations on the remuneration packages
of executive directors and senior management (i.e. the model described in the code provision B.1.2(c)(ii) is adopted); and
review and approve performance-based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives.
The Human Resources Department is responsible for collection and administration of the human resources data and
making recommendations to the Remuneration Committee for consideration. The Remuneration Committee consults
with the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company about these recommendations on
remuneration policy and structure and remuneration packages.
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Remuneration Committee has met twice and performed the following works:
—

Review and recommendation of the remuneration packages of directors of the Company and senior management
of the Group;

—

Review and recommendation of performance-based remuneration and bonus to the directors and senior
management of the Group;

—

Review and recommendation of the terms of the directors’ letters of appointment; and

—

Review and recommendation of the remuneration package regarding the appointment of Mr. Au Hing Lun,
Dennis as an executive director and deputy chief executive officer of the Company.
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Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual remuneration of the members of senior management by
band for the year ended 31 March 2014 is set out below:
Number of Employees
Nil to HK$500,000
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

1
2
3
1
1
8

Details of the remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 March 2014 are set out in note 9 to the financial
statements.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises a total of five members, being the three independent non-executive directors, namely,
Mr. Luk Koon Hoo, Mr. Patrick Thomas Siewert and Mr. Cheung Ching Leung, David and two non-executive directors,
namely, Mr. Kam Chi Chiu, Anthony and Mr. Arvind Amratlal Patel. The chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Luk
Koon Hoo who possesses the appropriate accounting and financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2)
of the Listing Rules. None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing external
auditors.
The principal duties of the Audit Committee are reviewing the financial information and reports of the Group and
considering any significant or unusual items raised by the financial officers of the Group or external auditors before
submission to the Board; reviewing the relationship with and the terms of appointment of the external auditors and
making the relevant recommendation to the Board; and reviewing the Company’s financial reporting system, internal
control system and risk management system.
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Audit Committee met five times with the presence of the Company’s senior
management and/or the external auditors and performed the following major works:
—

Review of the financial statements, results announcements and reports for the year ended 31 March 2013 and for
the six months ended 30 September 2013, the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and the
relevant audit findings;

—

Review and discussion with the auditors on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial reporting
system, internal control system and risk management system and associated procedures; and the review of the
arrangements for employees of the Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties; and

—

Consideration of the internal audit plan and report.
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There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee regarding
the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of external auditors.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises a total of three members, being one executive director, namely, Mr. Auyang Ho
and two independent non-executive directors, namely, Mr. Luk Koon Hoo and Mr. Patrick Thomas Siewert. Accordingly,
a majority of the members are independent non-executive directors. The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr.
Auyang Ho.
The principal duties of the Nomination Committee are reviewing and giving recommendation on the composition of the
Board, formulating relevant procedures for nomination and appointment of directors, identifying qualified individuals
to become members of the Board, monitoring the appointment and succession planning of directors, and assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive directors.
The Company has adopted a memorandum of directors’ nomination criteria, procedure and process for providing a
formal, considered and transparent procedure to the Board for evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships.
Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Board will carry out the selection process by making reference to the skills,
experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments of the proposed candidates, the
Company’s needs and other relevant statutory requirements and regulations. The Human Resources Department of the
Company will assist and an external recruitment agency may be engaged in carrying out the recruitment and selection
process where necessary.
In addition, in accordance with the Board Diversity Policy issued by the Company, the Nomination Committee shall
supervise the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and review the policy when appropriate to ensure its
effectiveness. Meanwhile, the Nomination Committee will discuss any amendments to the Board Diversity Policy when
necessary and propose such amendments to the Board for the approval of the Board. The Nomination Committee
considered that during the reporting period, the composition of the members of the Board was in accordance with the
requirements of the Board Diversity Policy.
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Nomination Committee has met twice and performed the following major
works:
—

Review and discussion of the existing structure, size and composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance
of expertise, skills and experience appropriate to the requirements for the business of the Group;

—

Assessment of the independence of the independent non-executive directors;

—

Recommendation on the re-appointment of retiring directors at the 2013 annual general meeting of the
Company; and

—

Recommendation on the appointment of Mr. Au Hing Lun, Dennis as an executive director and deputy chief
executive officer of the Company.
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In accordance with article 86(3) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Au Hing Lun, Dennis, who has been appointed as
an executive director and deputy chief executive officer with effect from 7 May 2014, will retire at the 2014 AGM. In
addition, pursuant to article 87 of the Articles of Association, Dr. Owyang King, Mr. Kam Chi Chiu, Anthony and Mr. Luk
Koon Hoo will retire from office by rotation at the 2014 AGM.
The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment of these four retiring directors at the 2014 AGM. The
Company’s circular, sent together with this annual report, contains detailed information of these retiring directors
pursuant to the Listing Rules requirements.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee comprises all the executive directors of the Company with the Chairman of the Board, Mr.
Auyang Ho, acting as the Chairman of such Committee. The Executive Committee operates as a general management
committee under the direct authority of the Board to increase the efficiency for the business decision. It monitors the
execution of the Company’s strategic plans and operations of all business units of the Group and discusses and makes
decisions on matters relating to the management and day-to-day operations of the Group.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of directors and senior management, the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

Attendance Records of Directors and Committee Members
During the year ended 31 March 2014, the Board held four Board meetings. The attendance records of each director
at the Board and Board Committee meetings (except the Executive Committee) and the annual general meeting of the
Company held during the year ended 31 March 2014 is set out in the table below:
Attendance/Number of Meetings

Name of Director
Mr. Auyang Ho
Dr. Owyang King
Mr. Kam Chi Chiu, Anthony
Mr. Arvind Amratlal Patel
Mr. Wong Chun Kong
Mr. Luk Koon Hoo
Mr. Patrick Thomas Siewert
Mr. Cheung Ching Leung, David
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Board

Audit
Committee

4/4
4/4
4/4
4/4
4/4
4/4
4/4
4/4

–
–
5/5
4/5
–
5/5
5/5
5/5
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Nomination Remuneration
Committee
Committee
2/2
–
–
–
–
2/2
2/2
–

2/2
–
–
–
–
2/2
2/2
2/2

Annual
General
Meeting
1/1
1/1
1/1
1/1
1/1
1/1
0/1
1/1
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Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting in respect of the Financial Statements
The directors have acknowledged their responsibilities for preparing the financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2014.
The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of annual and interim
reports, inside information announcements and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements. The management has provided such explanation and information to the Board as necessary to enable the
Board to make an informed assessment of the financial information and position of the Group put forward to the Board
for approval.

Internal Controls
The Board has overall responsibility for the internal control system of the Company and for reviewing its effectiveness.
The Board is also responsible for maintaining an adequate and effective internal control system to safeguard the interests
of the shareholders and the assets of the Company. The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal
control system of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2014. The review covered financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions.
During the year under review, the Audit Committee has discussed with the external auditors and the senior management
and internal audit team of the Group on the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control system and made
recommendations to the Board to ensure reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations, to identify and manage potential risks and to safeguard assets of the Group. The internal audit team reviews
and evaluates the control process and monitors any risk factors on a regular basis and reports to the Audit Committee
and the Board on any findings and measures to address the variances and identified risks.

External Auditors and Auditors’ Remuneration
The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the Company’s financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2014 is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” in this
annual report.
A summary of audit and non-audit services provided by the external auditors for the year ended 31 March 2014 and their
corresponding remuneration is as follows:
Nature of services

Amount
HK$’000

Audit services

1,542

Non-audit services
(i)
Tax services
(ii)
Services rendered in connection with the Company’s interim report
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Company Secretary
Ms. Soon Yuk Tai of Tricor Services Limited, external service provider, has been engaged by the Company as its company
secretary. Her primary contact person at the Company is Dr. Owyang King, executive director and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company.
During the year ended 31 March 2014, Ms. Soon has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings to
update her skills and knowledge.

Communications with Shareholders and Investors
The Board believes that a transparent and timely disclosure of the Group’s information will enable shareholders and
investors to make the best investment decision and to have better understanding on the Group’s business performance
and strategies. It is also vital for developing and maintaining continuing investor relations with the Company’s potential
and existing investors.
The Company maintains a website at “www.computime.com” as a communication platform with shareholders and
investors, where information and updates on the Group’s business developments and operations, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for public access. Shareholders and investors may
write directly to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong or via email to “hq@computime.com” or
“ir@computime.com” for any inquiries. Inquiries are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.
The Board also considers that general meetings of the Company provide a useful forum for shareholders to exchange
views with the Board. The Chairman of the Board as well as the chairmen and/or other members of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee normally attend the annual general meetings and other
shareholders’ meetings of the Company to answer questions raised.
Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code stipulates that independent non-executive directors and other non-executive
directors should also attend general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders.
However, one of the independent non-executive directors was unable to attend the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 18 September 2013 due to other commitment.
The Company continues to enhance communications and relationships with its investors. Designated senior management
maintains regular dialogue with institutional investors and analysts to keep them abreast of the Group’s developments.
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Shareholders’ Rights
As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’
meetings on each substantial issue, including the election of individual directors, for shareholders’ consideration and
voting. The Company’s shareholders may convene an extraordinary general meeting or put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings as follows:
(1)

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings may request the Company to convene an extraordinary general meeting by sending a written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary. The objectives of the meeting must be stated in the written
requisition.

(2)

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring director for election as a director of the Company
at a general meeting, the shareholder (other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote
at the general meeting shall send a written notice, duly signed by the shareholder, of his/her intention to propose
such person for election and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed of his/her willingness to be elected.
These notices should be lodged at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong, or the office of the
Company’s branch share registrar. The period for lodgement of such notices shall commence on the day after the
despatch of the notice of such general meeting and end 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting.

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for putting forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board of
the Company. Contact details are as follows:
Address: 9th Floor, Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, Hong Kong
Email: “hq@computime.com”or “ir@computime.com”
For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must provide their full name, contact details and identification, in the
originally signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be), in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.
During the year under review, the Company has not made any changes to its Articles of Association. An up-to-date
version of the Articles of Association is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. Shareholders
may refer to the Articles of Association for further details of the rights of shareholders.
All resolutions proposed at shareholders’ meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the
poll voting results will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.computime.com) immediately after the relevant general meetings.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the shareholders of Computime Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Computime Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 42 to 115, which comprise the consolidated and company statements of
financial position as at 31 March 2014, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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To the shareholders of Computime Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and of the Group as at 31 March 2014, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
26 June 2014
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
Year ended 31 March 2014

REVENUE

Notes

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

5

2,814,290

2,526,587

(2,477,411)

(2,268,617)

Cost of sales
Gross profit
Other income
Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses
Other operating income/(expenses), net
Finance costs
Share of profits and losses of associates

5

6
7

336,879

257,970

15,640
(68,842)
(179,088)
(55,659)
(7,606)
1,574

14,339
(62,825)
(170,797)
1,905
(6,419)
(338)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

8

42,898

33,835

Income tax expense

11

(9,036)

(2,736)

33,862

31,099

33,874
(12)

31,111
(12)

33,862

31,099

Basic

4.1 HK cents

3.7 HK cents

Diluted

4.1 HK cents

3.7 HK cents

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

Details of the dividends are disclosed in note 13 to the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 March 2014

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

33,862

31,099

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(EXPENSE)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) to be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations:
Subsidiaries
Associates

(677)
–

2,123
(73)

(677)

2,050

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

33,185

33,149

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

33,197
(12)

33,161
(12)

33,185

33,149
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
31 March 2014

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

109,719
36,420
705
47,681
2,717
7,750
7,213

111,962
36,420
705
48,918
1,811
7,750
2,577

212,205

210,143

614,687
560,681
48,094
2,281
590,907

614,368
556,677
31,712
3,043
516,063

1,816,650

1,721,863

525,291
92,001
320,618
4
160
5,570

426,248
134,188
304,864
4
160
1,221

Total current liabilities

943,644

866,685

NET CURRENT ASSETS

873,006

855,178

1,085,211

1,065,321

Notes
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Club debenture
Intangible assets
Interests in associates
Available-for-sale investment
Prepayments and deposits

15
16
17
19
20

Total non-current assets
CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
Trade receivables
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Tax recoverable
Cash and cash equivalents

21
22
23
24

Total current assets
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and bills payables
Other payables and accrued liabilities
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Amount due to an associate
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders
Tax payable

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES (to be continued)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)
31 March 2014

Notes
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES (continued)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liabilities

28

Net assets
EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Issued capital
Reserves

29
31(a)

Non-controlling interests
Total equity

Auyang Ho
Director

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

1,085,211

1,065,321

7,565

6,700

1,077,646

1,058,621

83,000
993,837

83,000
974,800

1,076,837

1,057,800

809

821

1,077,646

1,058,621

Dr. Owyang King
Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended 31 March 2014

Attributable to owners of the Company

Notes

At 1 April 2012

Issued
capital
HK$’000
(note 29)

Share Contributed
premium*
surplus*
HK$’000
HK$’000
(note 31(a))

Share Exchange
option fluctuation
reserve* reserve*
HK$’000
HK$’000

Retained
profits*
HK$’000

Noncontrolling
Total interests
HK$’000
HK$’000

Total
equity
HK$’000

83,000

386,419

1,879

5,609

44,862

515,828

1,037,597

833

1,038,430

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year:
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations

–

–

–

–

–

31,111

31,111

(12)

31,099

–

–

–

–

2,050

–

2,050

–

2,050

Total comprehensive income for the year

–

–

–

–

2,050

31,111

33,161

(12)

33,149

30

–

–

–

1,982

–

–

1,982

–

1,982

13

–
–

–
–

–
–

(167)
–

–
–

167
(14,940)

–
(14,940)

–
–

–
(14,940)

83,000

386,419

1,879

7,424

46,912

532,166

1,057,800

821

1,058,621

Equity-settled share option arrangements
Transfer of share option reserve upon
the forfeiture of share options
Final 2012 dividend paid
At 31 March 2013 and 1 April 2013
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year:
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations

–

–

–

–

–

33,874

33,874

(12)

33,862

–

–

–

–

(677)

–

(677)

–

(677)

Total comprehensive income for the year

–

–

–

–

(677)

33,874

33,197

(12)

33,185

30

–

–

–

780

–

–

780

–

780

13

–
–

–
–

–
–

(111)
–

–
–

111
(14,940)

–
(14,940)

–
–

–
(14,940)

83,000

386,419

1,879

8,093

46,235

551,211

1,076,837

809

1,077,646

Equity-settled share option arrangements
Transfer of share option reserve upon
the forfeiture of share options
Final 2013 dividend paid
At 31 March 2014
*
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These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$993,837,000 (2013: HK$974,800,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2014.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 March 2014

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

42,898

33,835

5
7
8
8
8
8

(6,175)
7,606
34,645
46,045
12,110
(6,368)

(7,147)
6,419
32,976
44,963
14,012
(8,517)

8
6, 8
8

(1,282)
66,038
780
(1,574)

(179)
1,620
1,982
338

Increase in inventories
Increase in trade receivables
Increase in prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade and bills payables
Decrease in other payables and accrued liabilities
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

194,723
(12,429)
(70,042)
(16,168)
100,981
(37,757)
(4,522)

120,302
(82,800)
(95,185)
(501)
(16,142)
(16,032)
(1,258)

Cash generated from/(used in) operations
Hong Kong profits tax paid
Overseas tax paid
Dividends paid

154,786
(2,239)
(821)
(14,940)

(91,616)
(5,441)
(2,410)
(14,940)

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities (to be continued)

136,786

(114,407)

Notes
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Interest income
Finance costs
Depreciation
Amortisation of deferred expenditure
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value
Write-back of trade and other payables
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and
equipment, net
Impairment of trade receivables
Equity-settled share option expenses
Share of profits and losses of associates
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
Year ended 31 March 2014

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

136,786

(114,407)

5,961
(32,763)
(4,636)
1,925
668
–
(44,812)

6,934
(31,039)
–
490
–
(2,131)
(46,361)

(73,657)

(72,107)

10,000
(316)
–
(7,606)
6,070

–
98,526
(20,772)
(6,419)
(3,549)

8,148

67,786

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

71,277
516,063
3,567

(118,728)
632,211
2,580

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

590,907

516,063

24

194,998

273,549

24

395,909

242,514

590,907

516,063

Notes
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities (continued)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment
Increase in prepayments and deposits
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and equipment
Dividend received from an associate
Loan advanced to an investee of available-for-sale investment
Additions to deferred expenditure

15

17

Net cash flows used in investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New bank loans
Increase/(decrease) in bank import loans
Repayment of bank term loans
Interest paid
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net
Net cash flows from financing activities

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances
Time deposits with original maturity of less than
three months when acquired
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position and the consolidated statement of cash flows
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Statement of Financial Position
31 March 2014

Notes

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

18

715,647

688,605

23

182
133
212,036

192
–
254,419

212,351

254,611

902
–

1,141
168

Total current liabilities

902

1,309

NET CURRENT ASSETS

211,449

253,302

Net assets

927,096

941,907

83,000
844,096

83,000
858,907

927,096

941,907

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Interests in subsidiaries
CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Tax recoverable
Cash and cash equivalents

24

Total current assets
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accrued liabilities
Tax payable

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves

26

29
31(b)

Total equity

Auyang Ho
Director

Dr. Owyang King
Director
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 March 2014

1.

Corporate Information
Computime Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in
the Cayman Islands on 23 June 2006 under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands.
The registered address of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and the principal place of business is located at 9th Floor, Tower One, Lippo Centre,
89 Queensway, Hong Kong.
During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) is principally engaged in
the research and development, design, manufacture and trading of electronic control products.

2.1 Basis of Preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention. These financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2014. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the parent of
the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control described in the accounting policy for subsidiaries
below. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2014

2.1 Basis of Preparation (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any
investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss or retained
profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.
HKFRS 1 Amendments
HKFRS 7 Amendments
HKFRS 10
HKFRS 11
HKFRS 12
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12 Amendments
HKFRS 13
HKAS 1 Amendments
HKAS 19 (2011)
HKAS 27 (2011)
HKAS 28 (2011)
HKAS 36 Amendments
HK(IFRIC)-Int 20
Annual Improvements
2009-2011 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards – Government Loans
Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Offsetting
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Consolidated Financial Statements
Joint Arrangements
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 – Transition Guidance
Fair Value Measurement
Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Presentation
of Items of Other Comprehensive Income
Employee Benefits
Separate Financial Statements
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
Amendments to HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets – Recoverable Amount
Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets (early adopted)
Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine
Amendments to a number of HKFRSs issued in June 2012

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of amendments to HKAS 1, the adoption of the new
and revised HKFRSs has had no significant financial effect on these financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2014

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures (continued)
The HKAS 1 Amendments change the grouping of items presented in other comprehensive income (“OCI”). Items
that could be reclassified (or recycled) to profit or loss at a future point in time (for example, exchange differences
on translation of foreign operations) are presented separately from items which will never be reclassified.
The amendments have affected the presentation only and have had no impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group. The consolidated statement of comprehensive income has been restated to reflect the
changes. In addition, the Group has chosen to use the new title “statement of profit or loss” as introduced by the
amendments.

2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective,
in these financial statements.
HKFRS 9
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 7 and
HKAS 39 Amendments
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 27 (2011) Amendments
HKFRS 14
HKAS 16 and HKAS 38
Amendments
HKAS 19 Amendments
HKAS 32 Amendments
HKAS 39 Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
Annual Improvements 2010–2012
Cycle
Annual Improvements 2011–2013
Cycle
1
2
3
4

Financial Instruments4
Hedge Accounting and amendments to HKFRS 9, HKFRS 7 and HKAS 394
Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27 (2011)
– Investment Entities1
Regulatory Deferral Accounts3
Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 – Clarification of Acceptable
Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation3
Amendments to HKAS 19 Employee Benefits
– Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions2
Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities1
Amendments to HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement – Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge Accounting1
Levies1
Amendments to number of HKFRSs issued in January 20142
Amendments to number of HKFRSs issued in January 20142

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016
No mandatory effective date yet determined but is available for adoption

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial
application and is not yet in a position to state whether they would have a significant impact on the Group’s
performance and financial position.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2014

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).
When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:
(a)

the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b)

rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)

the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s statement of profit or loss to the extent of dividends
received and receivable. The Company’s interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.
The Group’s interests in associates are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.
The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of associates is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises
its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interests in the associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group’s interests in
associates.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2014

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred is measured
at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to
measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the
acquiree.
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of
HKAS 39 is measured at fair value with changes in fair value either recognised in profit or loss or as a change to
other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is within the scope of HKAS 39, it is measured in
accordance with the appropriate HKFRS. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured
and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2014

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cashgenerating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of disposed operation and the portion of the cashgenerating unit retained.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, goodwill and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cashgenerating unit to which the asset belongs.
An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance
with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2014

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(a)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person
(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)

has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)

is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
(b)

56

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:
(i)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii)

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii)

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv)

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(vi)

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); and

(vii)

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2014

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.
Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as
follows:
Leasehold improvements
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Tools and machinery
Motor vehicles
Moulds and tooling

Over the shorter of the lease term and 10%
10%–33.3%
10%–33.3%
10%–33.3%
20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful
lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal
or retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
Construction in progress represents buildings under construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2014

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the
useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Deferred expenditure

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its
intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits,
the availability of resources to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Deferred expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
Deferred expenditure is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is amortised using the straight-line basis over
the commercial lives of the underlying products of three years, commencing from the date when the products are
put into commercial production.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than
legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset
is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together with the obligation,
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance leases,
including prepaid land leases payments under finance leases, are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of
such leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over
the lease terms.
Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Rentals payable under the operating leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss
on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2014

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

The Group’s financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and receivables and available-for-sale
investment. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs
that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair
value through profit or loss.
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income and gains in the statement of
profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Available-for-sale investment
Available-for-sale investment is non-derivative financial asset in listed and unlisted equity investment. Equity
investments classified as available for sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading nor designated
as at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those which are intended to be held for
an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in
market conditions.
After initial recognition, available-for-sale investment is subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains
or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until
the investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in other income in the
statement of profit or loss, or until the investment is determined to be impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss
is reclassified from the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the statement of profit or loss in other
gains or losses. Interest earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial investment is reported as interest
income, and is recognised in the statement of profit or loss as other income in accordance with the policies set out
for “Revenue recognition” below.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale investment (continued)

When the fair value of unlisted equity investment cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the
range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the various
estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such investment is
stated at cost less any impairment losses.
The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near
term are still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these financial assets due
to inactive markets, the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets if management has the ability and
intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity.
For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date
of reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been
recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of the investment using the effective
interest rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is also amortised over the
remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired,
then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:
•

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

•

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor
or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable data
indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether of impairment exists individually
for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment
and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of
impairment.
The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not yet been
incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and
is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Group.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased
or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the
statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that
is not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are
not reversed.

Available-for-sale investment
For available-for-sale investment, the Group assesses at the end of the reporting period whether there is any
objective evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.
If an available-for-sale investment is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in
the statement of profit or loss, is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.
In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the original
cost of the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which the fair value has been below its original cost.
Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the statement
of profit or loss – is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Impairment losses on equity instruments classified as available for sale are not reversed through the statement of
profit or loss. Increases in their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.
In the case of debt instruments classified as available for sale, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria
as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for impairment is the cumulative
loss measured as the difference between the amortised cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that investment previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Future interest income continues to
be accrued based on the reduced carrying amount of the asset and is accrued using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as
part of finance income. Impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed through the statement of profit or loss
if the subsequent increase in fair value of the instruments can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.
The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills payables, other payables, interest-bearing bank borrowings,
and amounts due to an associate and non-controlling shareholders.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs
in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted average
basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.
For the purpose of the statements of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in
the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the statement
of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:
•

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with interests in subsidiaries and associates, where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:
•

where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with interests in subsidiaries and associates,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.
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Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:
(a)

from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the
buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b)

engineering, handling and testing fee income, when the underlying services have been rendered; and

(c)

interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as consideration
for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference
to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a
trinomial model, further details of which are given in note 30 to the financial statements.
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over
the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled in employee benefit expense. The
cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions where
vesting is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.
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Share-based payments (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.
The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.

Other employee benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.
The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the
gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).
The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollars. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into the
presentation currency of the Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and
their statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows
of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.
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3.

Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements,
apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements.

Impairment of assets
The Group has to exercise judgement in determining whether an asset is impaired or the event previously causing
the asset impairment no longer exists, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred that may affect
the asset value or such event affecting the asset value has not been in existence; (2) whether the carrying value
of an asset can be supported by the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset or derecognition; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing
cash flow projections including whether these cash flow projections are discounted using an appropriate rate.
Changing the assumptions selected by management to determine the level of impairment, including the discount
rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the net present value used
in the impairment testing.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

(a)

Impairment of trade receivables
Management regularly reviews the impairment allowance for trade receivables of the Group based
on the evaluation of recoverability, outstanding period of accounts, and management’s estimation of
assumptions. Estimation is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of the receivables, including the
current creditworthiness, debtor ageing and the past collection history of each customer and debtor. In
determining whether impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, management takes into account
any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from
individual trade receivables, together with estimation of key assumptions including discount rate, growth
rate, settlement pattern, etc. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and
timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly. The carrying amount of trade receivables at 31 March
2014 was HK$560,681,000 (2013: HK$556,677,000). Further details are given in note 22 to the financial
statements.

Computime Group Limited | Annual Report 2013/2014

69

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2014

3.

Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)
(b)

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value is made based on the ageing and estimated net realisable
value of inventories. The assessment of the write-down amount requires management’s estimates and
judgements. Where the actual outcome or expectation in the future is different from the original estimate,
such differences will impact the carrying value of inventories and the write-down/write-back of inventories
in the period in which such estimate has been changed. The carrying amount of inventories at 31 March
2014 was HK$614,687,000 (2013: HK$614,368,000). Further details are given in note 21 to the financial
statements.

(c)

Useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant and equipment
In determining the useful lives and residual values of items of property, plant and equipment, the Group
has to consider various factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence arising from changes or
improvements in production, or from a change in the market demand for the product or service output
of the asset, expected usage of the asset, expected physical wear and tear, the care and maintenance of
the asset, and legal or similar limits on the use of the asset. The estimation of the useful life of the asset
is based on the experience of the Group with similar assets that are used in a similar way. Additional
depreciation is made if the estimated useful lives and/or the residual values of items of property, plant and
equipment are different from previous estimation. Useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each
financial year end date based on changes in circumstances.

(d)

Impairment of goodwill
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in
use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating
unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
A change in the estimated future cash flows and/or the discount rate applied will result in an adjustment
to the estimated impairment provision previously made. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 March
2014 was HK$36,420,000 (2013: HK$36,420,000). Further details are given in note 16 to the financial
statements.

70

Computime Group Limited | Annual Report 2013/2014

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2014

4.

Operating Segment Information
For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and services and
has three reportable operating segments as follows:
(a)

the building and home controls segment, which is engaged in the research and development, design,
manufacture, trading and distribution of building and home control products;

(b)

the appliance controls segment, which is engaged in the research and development, design, manufacture,
trading and distribution of appliance control products; and

(c)

the commercial and industrial controls segment, which is engaged in the research and development,
design, manufacture, trading and distribution of commercial and industrial control products.

Management monitors the results of its operating segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit, which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted profit before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit before tax except that other income, finance costs, share of profits and losses
of associates as well as corporate and unallocated expenses are excluded from such measurement.
Segment assets exclude property, plant and equipment, club debenture, cash and cash equivalents, available-forsale investment and corporate and other unallocated assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.
Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank borrowings, deferred tax liabilities and corporate and other
unallocated liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.
Inter-segment revenue and transfers are transacted with reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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Operating Segment Information (continued)
Building and
home controls

Appliance controls

Total

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

777,371

736,789

1,529,603

1,379,621

507,316

410,177

2,814,290

2,526,587

75,257

34,876

(29,888)

24,154

25,601

14,585

70,970

73,615

5,961

6,934

9,679

7,405

(37,680)
(7,606)

(47,362)
(6,419)

1,574

(338)

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

42,898
(9,036)

33,835
(2,736)

Profit for the year

33,862

31,099

Segment revenue:
Sales to external customers
Segment results
Bank interest income
Other income (excluding
bank interest income)
Corporate and other
unallocated expenses
Finance costs
Share of profits and losses of
associates
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Commercial and
industrial controls

1,574

(338)
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Operating Segment Information (continued)
Building and
home controls

Assets and liabilities
Segment assets
Interests in associates
Corporate and other
unallocated assets

Appliance controls

Commercial and
industrial controls

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

453,827
2,717

382,379
1,811

570,580
–

587,292
–

148,671
–

77,867
–

1,173,078
2,717

1,047,538
1,811

853,060

882,657

2,028,855

1,932,006

69,033

45,665

882,176

827,720

951,209

873,385

77,575
34,645

77,400
32,976

(1,282)

(179)

Total assets
Segment liabilities
Corporate and other
unallocated liabilities

25,666

18,911

40,994

22,640

2,373

4,114

Total liabilities
Other segment information:
Capital expenditure*
Depreciation
Gain on disposal of items of
property, plant and
equipment, net
Amortisation of deferred
expenditure
Impairment of trade receivables
Write-down of inventories to
net realisable value
Write-back of trade and
other payables
*

Total

32,132
134

31,930
1,620

11,764
65,904

9,173
–

2,149
–

3,860
–

46,045
66,038

44,963
1,620

4,696

3,278

3,062

8,738

4,352

1,996

12,110

14,012

–

(5,466)

(6,368)

(867)

–

(2,184)

(6,368)

(8,517)

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.
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4.

Operating Segment Information (continued)
Geographical information
(a)

Revenue from external customers

The America
Europe
Asia
Other regions

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

655,142
1,427,125
715,808
16,215

765,259
1,246,964
503,453
10,911

2,814,290

2,526,587

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

5,578
1,987
196,185

4,853
1,690
195,145

203,750

201,688

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the customers.

(b)

Non-current assets

The America
Europe
Asia

The non-current asset information above is based on the locations of the assets and excludes club
debenture and available-for-sale investment.

Information about major customers

Approximately 26.8% and 10.2% of the Group’s revenue was derived from sales to two major customers,
primarily in the appliance controls and commercial and industrial controls segments, respectively, for the year
ended 31 March 2014.
Approximately 25.3% of the Group’s revenue was derived from sales to one major customer, primarily in the
appliance controls segment, for the year ended 31 March 2013.
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5.

Revenue and Other Income
Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for
returns and trade discounts.
An analysis of other income of the Group is as follows:

Bank interest income
Other interest income
Engineering fee income
Handling and testing fee income
Sale of materials
Sundry income

6.

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

5,961
214
1,468
1,714
4,719
1,564

6,934
213
2,182
1,103
1,404
2,503

15,640

14,339

Other Operating Income/(Expenses), Net
Included in other operating income/(expenses), net, is the impairment of trade receivables of HK$66,038,000,
of which HK$65,904,000 relates to the trade receivables from Fagor Electrodomesticos Sociedad Cooperativa,
FagorBrandt SAS, and Fagor Mastercook S.A. (collectively, the “Fagor Group”).
On 13 November 2013, Fagor Electrodomesticos Sociedad Cooperativa, a company incorporated under the laws
of Spain, submitted a petition to open formal insolvency proceedings (concurso) before the Commercial Court No.
1 of San Sebastian (Spain). The Court opened the insolvency proceedings on 19 November 2013.
FagorBrandt SAS, a company incorporated under the laws of France, was subject to reorganisation proceedings
(redressement judiciaire) before the Commercial Court of Nanterre (France) since 7 November 2013. Subsequent
to the end of the reporting period, on 11 April 2014, the Commercial Court of Nanterre (France) converted the
reorganisation proceedings into liquidation proceedings. On 15 April 2014, the Commercial Court of Nanterre
(France) approved various bids for the assets of FagorBrandt SAS, including the bid of Cevital. Cevital will acquire
most of the assets of FagorBrandt SAS. FagorBrandt SAS will enter into the asset purchase agreements with the
bidders in the coming months.
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6.

Other Operating Income/(Expenses), Net (continued)
On 31 October 2013, Fagor Mastercook S.A., a company incorporated under the laws of Poland, submitted a
petition to open formal insolvency proceedings (concurso) before the Commercial Court No. 1 of San Sebastian
(Spain). The Court opened the insolvency proceedings on 19 November 2013. On 18 February 2014, the Polish
Court in Wroclaw opened the secondary proceedings of Fagor Mastercook S.A. These proceedings under the EC
Regulation 1346/2000 are liquidation proceedings.
Since the Fagor Group has undertaken insolvency and reorganisation proceedings and only a portion of these
receivables is expected to be recovered, impairment provision of HK$65,904,000 was made against the Group’s
trade receivables of HK$80,528,000 due from the Fagor Group at the end of the reporting period. In the opinion
of the Company’s directors, the impairment provision of HK$65,904,000 is considered adequate as at 31 March
2014.

7.

Finance Costs
An analysis of finance costs of the Group is as follows:

Interest on:
Bank loans wholly repayable within five years
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2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

7,606

6,419

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2014

8.

Profit Before Tax
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Cost of inventories sold*
Depreciation
Research and development costs:
Amortisation of deferred expenditure^
Current year expenditure

Notes

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

15

2,465,301
34,645

2,254,605
32,976

46,045
6,890

44,963
19,628

52,935

64,591

45,468
1,882

46,745
1,556

287,411
1,526
(543)
780

264,240
1,181
(555)
1,982

289,174

266,848

17

Minimum lease payments under
operating leases of land and buildings
Auditors’ remuneration
Employee benefit expense*
(including directors’ remuneration – note 9):
Wages, salaries and other benefits
Pension scheme contributions
Reversal of provision for untaken paid leave, net
Equity-settled share option expenses

Foreign exchange differences, net#
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment, net#
Impairment of trade receivables#
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value**
Write-back of trade and other payables***
Overprovision for share of liquidation costs on an associate#

6, 22

(9,509)
(1,282)
66,038
12,110
(6,368)
–

(1,148)
(179)
1,620
14,012
(8,517)
(2,172)

*

Employee benefit expense of HK$205,813,000 (2013: HK$188,480,000) is included in “Cost of inventories sold” above.

**

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value is included in “Cost of sales” on the face of the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

***

Write-back of trade and other payables is included in “Selling and distribution expenses” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

^

The amortisation of deferred expenditure for the year is included in “Administrative expenses” on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

#

These items are included in “Other operating income/(expenses), net” on the face of the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

At 31 March 2014, the Group had no forfeited contribution available to reduce its contributions to the pension
schemes in future years (2013: Nil).
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9.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Remuneration
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and Section
78 of Schedule 11 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), is as follows:

Fees
Other emoluments:
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Equity-settled share option expenses
Pension scheme contributions

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

1,025

1,025

7,659
780
–

11,113
1,982
8

9,464

14,128

During the years ended 31 March 2014 and 2013, a director had outstanding share options granted by the
Company, in respect of his services to the Group, under the share option scheme of the Company, further
details of which are set out in note 30 to the financial statements. The fair value of such options, which has been
recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and
the amount included in the financial statements for the current year is included in the above directors’ and chief
executive’s remuneration disclosures.
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9.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Remuneration (continued)
The remuneration of each of the directors and chief executive for the year ended 31 March 2014 is set out below:
EquitySalaries,
Pension
settled
allowances
scheme
and benefits share option
expenses contributions
in kind
Fees
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
Executive directors
Mr. Auyang Ho
Dr. Owyang King*

Non-executive directors
Mr. Wong Chun Kong
Mr. Kam Chi Chiu, Anthony
Mr. Arvind Amratlal, Patel

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Luk Koon Hoo
Mr. Patrick Thomas, Siewert
Mr. Cheung Ching Leung, David

Total
HK$’000

–
–

1,820
5,839

–
780

–
–

1,820
6,619

–

7,659

780

–

8,439

140
172
172

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

140
172
172

484

–

–

–

484

182
182
177

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

182
182
177

541

–

–

–

541

1,025

7,659

780

–

9,464
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9.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Remuneration (continued)
The remuneration of each of the directors and chief executive for the year ended 31 March 2013 is set out below:
EquitySalaries,
Pension
settled
allowances
scheme
and benefits share option
expenses contributions
in kind
Fees
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
Executive directors
Mr. Auyang Ho
Dr. Owyang King*
Ms. Choi Po Yee, Alice
(Resigned on 8 October 2012)

Non-executive directors
Mr. Wong Chun Kong
Mr. Kam Chi Chiu, Anthony
Mr. Arvind Amratlal, Patel

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Luk Koon Hoo
Mr. Patrick Thomas, Siewert
Mr. Cheung Ching Leung, David

Total
HK$’000

–
–

1,820
5,833

–
1,982

–
–

1,820
7,815

–

3,460

–

8

3,468

–

11,113

1,982

8

13,103

140
172
172

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

140
172
172

484

–

–

–

484

182
182
177

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

182
182
177

541

–

–

–

541

1,025

11,113

1,982

8

14,128

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year (2013: Nil).
*
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Dr. Owyang King is also the chief executive of the Company.
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10. Five Highest Paid Employees
The five highest paid employees during the year included two (2013: three) directors, details of whose emoluments
are set out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining three (2013: two) non-director highest
paid employees for the year are as follows:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
Pension scheme contributions

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

5,996
43

3,878
24

6,039

3,902

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:
Number of employees

Nil to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

2014

2013

–
2
1

1
–
1

3

2

11. Income Tax Expense
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2013: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of
tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group entities operate.
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11. Income Tax Expense (continued)

Current – Hong Kong
Charge for the year
Underprovision/(overprovision) in prior years
Current – Mainland China and other countries
Charge for the year
Underprovision in prior years
Deferred (note 28)
Total tax charge for the year

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

1,433
59

4,562
(3,443)

6,273
406
865

2,227
–
(610)

9,036

2,736

A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to profit/(loss) before tax at the statutory rates for the
jurisdictions in which the Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates is
as follows:

Hong Kong
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

Profit/(loss) before tax

(2,235)

45,133

42,898

Tax at the statutory tax rates
Adjustments in respect of current tax of previous periods
Profits attributable to associates
Net loss from operations not subject to tax
Income not subject to tax
Expenses not deductible for tax
Tax losses from previous periods utilised
Tax losses not recognised

(369)
59
(260)
484
(4,928)
4,160
(1)
3,212

11,288
406
–
–
(1,666)
124
(3,473)
–

10,919
465
(260)
484
(6,594)
4,284
(3,474)
3,212

2,357

6,679

9,036

Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate
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2014
Mainland
China
and other
countries
HK$’000
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11. Income Tax Expense (continued)

Hong Kong
HK$’000

2013
Mainland
China
and other
countries
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

Profit before tax

31,546

2,289

33,835

Tax at the statutory tax rates
Differential tax rates for specific jurisdictions
Adjustments in respect of current tax of previous periods
Losses attributable to associates
Net profit from operations not subject to tax
Income not subject to tax
Expenses not deductible for tax
Tax losses from previous periods utilised
Tax losses not recognised

5,205
–
(3,443)
56
(823)
(2,228)
1,774
(33)
1

573
681
–
–
–
(53)
1,498
(967)
495

5,778
681
(3,443)
56
(823)
(2,281)
3,272
(1,000)
496

509

2,227

2,736

Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate

12. Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company
The consolidated profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2014 includes a loss
of HK$651,000 (2013: HK$464,000) which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company (note
31(b)).
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13. Dividends
Dividend paid during the year

Final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2013
– HK$0.018 per ordinary share (2013: final dividend of HK$0.018 per
ordinary share, in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2012)

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

14,940

14,940

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

16,600

14,940

Proposed final dividend

Final – HK$0.020 (2013: HK$0.018) per ordinary share

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

14. Earnings Per Share Attributable to Owners of the Company
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit for the year attributable to owners of the
Company of HK$33,874,000 (2013: HK$31,111,000) and 830,000,000 ordinary shares in issue (2013:
830,000,000 ordinary shares) during the year.
For the year ended 31 March 2014, the calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the profit for the year
attributable to equity holders of the Company of HK$33,874,000 and 831,126,184 ordinary shares, being the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, adjusted for the effects of the potentially
dilutive ordinary shares outstanding during the year.
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14. Earnings Per Share Attributable to Owners of the Company (continued)
A reconciliation of the weighted average number of shares used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share is
as follows:
2014
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
calculating the basic earnings per share
Weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to
have been issued at nil consideration on deemed exercise of
all dilutive options in issue during the year
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
calculating the diluted earnings per share

830,000,000

1,126,184

831,126,184

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share amount presented for the year ended 31 March
2013 in respect of a dilution as the exercise price of the share options of the Company outstanding as at 31 March
2013 was higher than the average market price of the Company’s ordinary shares for the year and, accordingly,
the share options in issue during the year ended 31 March 2013 have no dilutive effect on the basic earnings per
ordinary share.
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15. Property, Plant and Equipment
Group

Note

Furniture,
Leasehold
improve- fixtures and
ments equipment
HK$’000
HK$’000

Tools and
machinery
HK$’000

Motor
vehicles
HK$’000

Moulds
and
tooling
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

At 31 March 2014
At 31 March 2013 and
at 1 April 2013:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

70,655
(53,634)

124,814
(100,350)

280,746
(216,305)

3,258
(2,438)

16,982
(11,766)

496,455
(384,493)

17,021

24,464

64,441

820

5,216

111,962

17,021
2,370
(3)

24,464
7,846
(50)

64,441
18,697
(590)

820
772
–

5,216
3,078
–

111,962
32,763
(643)

(4,578)
14

(8,327)
46

(19,782)
220

(442)
1

(1,516)
1

(34,645)
282

At 31 March 2014, net of
accumulated depreciation

14,824

23,979

62,986

1,151

6,779

109,719

At 31 March 2014:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

72,991
(58,167)

132,430
(108,451)

282,408
(219,422)

3,683
(2,532)

20,060
(13,281)

511,572
(401,853)

14,824

23,979

62,986

1,151

6,779

109,719

Net carrying amount
At 1 April 2013, net of
accumulated depreciation
Additions
Disposals and write-offs
Depreciation provided
during the year
Exchange realignment

Net carrying amount
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15. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)
Group
Leasehold
improvements
HK$’000

Furniture,
fixtures and
equipment
HK$’000

Tools and
machinery
HK$’000

Motor
vehicles
HK$’000

Moulds
and
tooling
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

62,465
(48,719)

118,573
(93,384)

267,178
(198,981)

3,238
(2,101)

17,026
(11,886)

468,480
(355,071)

13,746

25,189

68,197

1,137

5,140

113,409

13,746
7,620
–

25,189
7,290
(84)

68,197
14,451
(227)

1,137
–
–

5,140
1,678
–

113,409
31,039
(311)

(4,403)
58

(8,053)
122

(18,597)
617

(321)
4

(1,602)
–

(32,976)
801

At 31 March 2013, net of
accumulated depreciation

17,021

24,464

64,441

820

5,216

111,962

At 31 March 2013:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

70,655
(53,634)

124,814
(100,350)

280,746
(216,305)

3,258
(2,438)

16,982
(11,766)

496,455
(384,493)

17,021

24,464

64,441

820

5,216

111,962

Note
At 31 March 2013
At 1 April 2012:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net carrying amount
At 1 April 2012, net of
accumulated depreciation
Additions
Disposals and write-offs
Depreciation provided
during the year
Exchange realignment

Net carrying amount

8

Computime Group Limited | Annual Report 2013/2014

87

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2014

16. Goodwill
Group
2014
HK$’000
At 1 April and 31 March:
Cost
Accumulated impairment
Net carrying amount

2013
HK$’000

38,164
(1,744)

38,164
(1,744)

36,420

36,420

Impairment testing of goodwill

Included in the balance was mainly the goodwill acquired through business combination of Asia Electronics HK
Technologies Limited and Asia Electronics Technologies (Dongguan) Co. Ltd. (collectively the “Asia Electronics
Entity”), which has been regarded as one cash-generating unit for impairment testing.
The recoverable amount of the Asia Electronics Entity has been determined based on a value in use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior management,
with cash flows beyond the five-year period being extrapolated using a growth rate of 5% (2013: 3.8%). The
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 5% (2013: 5%).
The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the Asia Electronics Entity was HK$34,136,000 (2013:
HK$34,136,000) as at 31 March 2014.
Certain key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the Asia Electronics Entity for 31 March 2014.
Management determined the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins based on the average gross margins
achieved in the year immediately before the budget year, adjusted for expected efficiency improvements. Changes
in revenue and costs are based on management experience and expectations of future changes in the market. The
discount rate used is a pre-tax rate and reflects specific risks relating to the relevant unit.
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17. Intangible Assets
Group
Deferred expenditure
Note
At 1 April:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net carrying amount
At beginning of year, net of accumulated amortisation
Additions
Amortisation provided during the year
Exchange realignment
At 31 March, net of accumulated amortisation
At 31 March:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net carrying amount

8

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

365,897
(316,979)

319,536
(272,016)

48,918

47,520

48,918
44,812
(46,045)
(4)

47,520
46,361
(44,963)
–

47,681

48,918

209,949
(162,268)

365,897
(316,979)

47,681

48,918
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18. Interests in Subsidiaries
Company

Unlisted investments, at cost
Due from subsidiaries

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

353,435
362,212

353,435
335,170

715,647

688,605

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and have no specific terms of repayment.
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name

90

Nominal
value of issued
Place of
incorporation/ ordinary shares/
registered
registration and
capital
operations

Percentage of
equity
attributable to
the Company

Principal activities

US$400

100%

Investment holding

Computime International
Limited (“CIL”)

British Virgin
Islands/
Hong Kong

Computime Limited

Hong Kong

HK$2,000,000

100%

Investment holding, research
and development, design,
manufacture and trading of
electronic control products

Seccom Technologies Limited

Hong Kong

HK$100,000

100%

Trading of electronic control
products

金寶通電子(深圳)有限公司
Computime Electronics
(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd.*#

PRC/Mainland
China

US$14,000,000

100%

Manufacture and trading of
electronic control products

Clovis Limited

Hong Kong

HK$1

100%

Trading of electronic control
products
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18. Interests in Subsidiaries (continued)

Name

Nominal
value of issued
Place of
incorporation/ ordinary shares/
registered
registration and
capital
operations

Computime (N.A.)
Technology Centre, Inc.*

United States of
America

N/A

100%

Provision of administrative
customer service, engineering
and research and development
support services

Salus Controls Plc*

United Kingdom

GBP3,000,000

100%

Distribution and trading of
electronic control products

Salus Controls GmbH*

Germany

EUR3,025,000

100%

Distribution and trading of
electronic control products

Asia Electronics HK
Technologies Limited
(“AEHK”)

Hong Kong

HK$23,250,100

100%

Trading of electronic control
products

Asia Electronics Technologies
(Dongguan) Co. Ltd.
(“AEDG”)*#

PRC/Mainland
China

US$3,300,000

100%

Manufacture of electronic
control products

Percentage of
equity
attributable to
the Company

Principal activities

*

Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of the Ernst & Young global network

#

Registered as a wholly-owned foreign enterprise under the PRC law

Except for CIL, all the above subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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19. Interests in Associates
Group

Share of net assets
Goodwill on acquisition

Provision for impairment*

*

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

6,293
1,558

5,387
1,558

7,851
(5,134)

6,945
(5,134)

2,717

1,811

An impairment was recognised for the interest in an associate, of which the share of net assets was HK$5,134,000 (2013:
HK$5,134,000) because the recoverable amount of the interest in the associate was lower than the carrying amount
as it has been loss-making for some time and has undertaken the process of liquidation. Subsequent to the end of the
reporting period, on 16 May 2014, the liquidation process is completed and the associate is dissolved accordingly.

The Group’s trade receivable balances with the associates are disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements.
Particulars of the principal associate are as follows:

Name
Braeburn Systems LLC*

*

Particulars of
issued shares
held

Place of incorporation

Percentage of
ownership interest
attributable to
the Group

N/A

United States of America

27%

Principal activity
Trading of electronic
products

Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of the Ernst & Young global network

The above table lists the associate of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other associates
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
The Group’s associates have financial years ending 31 December, which is not coterminous with that of the
Group. The consolidated financial statements are adjusted for the material transactions between the associates
and the Group between 1 January and 31 March.
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19. Interests in Associates (continued)
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of the Group’s associates that are not
individually material:

Share of the associates’ profits and losses for the year
Share of the associates’ other comprehensive expense
Share of the associates’ total comprehensive income/(expense)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s interests in the associates

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

1,574
–
1,574
2,717

(338)
(73)
(411)
1,811

20. Available-for-sale Investment
Group

Unlisted equity investment, at cost

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

7,750

7,750

The above investment represents the investment in equity securities which were classified as available-for-sale
investment. The equity investment has no specific maturity date or coupon rate.
As at 31 March 2014, the unlisted equity investment with a carrying amount of HK$7,750,000 (2013:
HK$7,750,000) was stated at cost less impairment because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so
significant that the directors are of the opinion that the fair value cannot be measured reliably. The Group does
not intend to dispose of the investment in the near future.
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21. Inventories
Group

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

285,288
43,915
285,484

319,907
37,238
257,223

614,687

614,368

22. Trade Receivables
Group

Trade receivables
Impairment

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

641,354
(80,673)

571,312
(14,635)

560,681

556,677

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. The credit period granted to customers
generally ranges from one to three months. The Group maintains strict credit control over its customers and
outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In
view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.
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22. Trade Receivables (continued)
An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the payment due date
and net of provisions, is as follows:
Group

Within 1 month
1 to 2 months
2 to 3 months
Over 3 months

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

491,127
23,210
14,025
32,319

511,396
21,750
8,106
15,425

560,681

556,677

The movements in the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:
Group
2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

At 1 April
Impairment losses recognised (note 8)

14,635
66,038

13,015
1,620

At 31 March

80,673

14,635

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of HK$80,673,000 (2013: HK$14,635,000) with a carrying amount before provision of HK$97,649,000
(2013: HK$14,866,000). The individually impaired trade receivables relate to balances that were in dispute, or in
the status of insolvency and reorganisation proceedings as set out in note 6.
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22. Trade Receivables (continued)
The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are neither individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is as
follows:
Group

Neither past due nor impaired
Less than 1 month past due
1 to 3 months past due
Over 3 months past due

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

418,457
72,670
37,234
15,344

481,115
30,281
29,856
15,194

543,705

556,446

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large number of diversified customers for whom
there was no recent history of default.
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.
Included in the Group’s trade receivables is an amount due from the Group’s associate of HK$16,295,000 (2013:
HK$22,052,000) which is repayable on similar credit terms to those offered to the major customers of the Group.

23. Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables
Included in other receivables is a loan with the principal amount of HK$2,131,000 (2013: HK$2,131,000) and the
accrued interest of HK$427,000 (2013: HK$213,000) as at 31 March 2014, advanced to an investee as recorded
under “Available-for-sale investment”. The loan is unsecured, bears interest at 10% per annum and is repayable
on demand. None of the assets of the Group and the Company included in the balances is either past due or
impaired. The financial assets included in the balances related to receivables for which there was no recent history
of default.
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24. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Group

Cash and bank balances
Time deposits

Company

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

194,998
395,909

273,549
242,514

1,008
211,028

199,703
54,716

590,907

516,063

212,036

254,419

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s cash and bank balances denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
amounted to HK$238,476,000 (2013: HK$208,504,000). RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under the Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made
for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

25. Trade and Bills Payables
An aged analysis of trade and bills payables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the payment due date, is
as follows:
Group

Within 1 month
1 to 2 months
2 to 3 months
Over 3 months

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

484,359
17,101
1,660
22,171

391,784
12,325
1,983
20,156

525,291

426,248

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and generally have payment terms ranging from one to three months.

Computime Group Limited | Annual Report 2013/2014

97

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2014

26. Other Payables and Accrued Liabilities
The Group’s and the Company’s other payables and accrued liabilities are non-interest-bearing and have payment
terms ranging from one to three months.

27. Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings
Group
2014

Current
Bank term loans – unsecured
Bank import loans – unsecured

Effective
interest
rate (%)

Maturity

1.34–2.39
1.21–1.97

2014
2014

2013

HK$’000

Effective
interest
rate (%)

Maturity

HK$’000

86,075
234,543

1.65–2.86
1.21–2.30

2013
2013

70,005
234,859

320,618

Analysed into:
Bank loans repayable:
Within one year or on demand

304,864
2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

320,618

304,864

Other interest rate information:
Floating rate

Bank loans – unsecured

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

320,618

304,864

Except for unsecured bank loans of approximately HK$9,765,000, HK$38,730,000 and HK$37,345,000
denominated in US$, GBP and EUR, respectively (2013: approximately HK$35,250,000 and HK$34,755,000
denominated in GBP and EUR, respectively) at 31 March 2014, all other borrowings were denominated in Hong
Kong dollars at 31 March 2014.
At 31 March 2014 and 2013, the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings were supported by corporate
guarantees executed by the Company and certain of its wholly-owned subsidiaries.
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28. Deferred Tax
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and asset during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities/(assets)
Group

Provision
against
inventories
HK$’000

Depreciation
allowance in
excess of
related
Deferred
depreciation expenditure
HK$’000
HK$’000

Net
Unrealised deferred tax
liabilities
losses
HK$’000
HK$’000

At 1 April 2012
Deferred tax charged/(credited)
to the statement of profit or loss
during the year (note 11)

(834)

2,335

4,899

910

7,310

–

(767)

487

(330)

(610)

At 31 March 2013 and 1 April 2013

(834)

1,568

5,386

580

6,700

Deferred tax charged/(credited)
to the statement of profit or loss
during the year (note 11)

834

676

(645)

–

865

–

2,244

4,741

580

7,565

At 31 March 2014

The Group has unrecognised tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$22,878,000 (2013: HK$3,417,000) and in
other region of HK$27,452,000 (2013: HK$41,343,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and it is not certain
that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from
1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied
if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

Computime Group Limited | Annual Report 2013/2014

99

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2014

28. Deferred Tax (continued)
At 31 March 2014, no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland
China. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in
Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately HK$97,840,000
at 31 March 2014 (2013: HK$37,748,000).
There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

29. Share Capital
Share

Authorised:
5,000,000,000 (2013: 5,000,000,000) ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
Issued and fully paid:
830,000,000 (2013: 830,000,000) ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

500,000

500,000

83,000

83,000

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options issued under the scheme are included in
note 30 to the financial statements.

30. Share Option Scheme
The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operation. Eligible participants of
the Scheme include directors (including executive, non-executive and independent non-executive directors) and
employees of the Group, any advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business
partners, joint venture business partners, promoters or service providers of any member of the Group. The Scheme
was adopted on 15 September 2006 (the “Adoption Date”) and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will
remain in force for 10 years from that date.

100

Computime Group Limited | Annual Report 2013/2014

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2014

30. Share Option Scheme (continued)
The maximum number of shares to be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Scheme and any other schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the shares in
issue at any time. The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued under share options to each eligible
participant under the Scheme (including both exercised and outstanding options) within any 12-month period is
limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is
subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.
Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors of the Company. In
addition, any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of
the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue and with
an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, is subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.
As at the date of this report, the total number of shares available for issue under the Scheme is 58,974,000,
representing approximately 7.1% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of this report.
The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from the date of offer, upon payment
of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the directors, which may commence from the date of offer of the share options, and ends on a
date which is not later than 10 years from the date of offer of the share options.
The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the directors, but shall not be less than the highest of
(i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the share options; (ii) the
average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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30. Share Option Scheme (continued)
The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme during the year:
Weighted
average
exercise price
HK$ per share

Number of
options

0.99
0.375
1.75

17,476,000
4,000,000
(270,000)

At 31 March 2013 and 1 April 2013
Lapsed/forfeited during the year

0.86
1.75

21,206,000
(180,000)

At 31 March 2014

0.86

21,026,000

At 1 April 2012
Granted during the year
Lapsed/forfeited during the year

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:
2014
Number of options
’000

Exercise price*
HK$ per share

342
342
342
2,400
2,400
3,200
2,400
2,400
3,200
1,200
1,200
1,600
21,026
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1.75
1.75
1.75
1.05
1.05
1.05
0.79
0.79
0.79
0.375
0.375
0.375

Exercise period

31 August 2008 to 30 August 2017
31 August 2009 to 30 August 2017
31 August 2010 to 30 August 2017
30 April 2011 to 29 April 2020
30 April 2012 to 29 April 2020
30 April 2013 to 29 April 2020
28 June 2012 to 27 June 2021
28 June 2013 to 27 June 2021
28 June 2014 to 27 June 2021
6 August 2013 to 5 August 2022
6 August 2014 to 5 August 2022
6 August 2015 to 5 August 2022

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
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30. Share Option Scheme (continued)
2013
Number of options
’000
402
402
402
2,400
2,400
3,200
2,400
2,400
3,200
1,200
1,200
1,600

Exercise price*
HK$ per share
1.75
1.75
1.75
1.05
1.05
1.05
0.79
0.79
0.79
0.375
0.375
0.375

Exercise period

31 August 2008 to 30 August 2017
31 August 2009 to 30 August 2017
31 August 2010 to 30 August 2017
30 April 2011 to 29 April 2020
30 April 2012 to 29 April 2020
30 April 2013 to 29 April 2020
28 June 2012 to 27 June 2021
28 June 2013 to 27 June 2021
28 June 2014 to 27 June 2021
6 August 2013 to 5 August 2022
6 August 2014 to 5 August 2022
6 August 2015 to 5 August 2022

21,206
*

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar
changes in the Company’s share capital.

The fair value of the share options granted during the year ended 31 March 2013 was HK$624,920 (HK$0.1562
each). No share options have been granted during this year. The Group recognised a share option expense of
HK$780,000 (2013: HK$1,982,000) during the year ended 31 March 2014.
The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year ended 31 March 2013 was estimated as at
the date of grant, using a trinomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:
2013
Exercise price
Dividend yield (%)
Expected volatility (%)
Historical volatility (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%)
Expected life of options (years)

0.375
3.22
48.62
48.62
0.67
10
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30. Share Option Scheme (continued)
The expected life of the options is based on the contractual life and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise
patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of
future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

Director

Dr. Owyang King

Total

Date of Exercise
share option
price
to be vested per share
HK$

The price
of the
Company’s
shares at the
grant date
HK$

As at
1 April
2013

Granted
during
the year

Exercised
during
the year

As at
31 March
2014

Date of
grant of
share options

Exercise
period of
share options

2,400,000

–

–

2,400,000

30 April 2010

From 30 April 2011
to 29 April 2020

30 April 2011

1.05

1.05

2,400,000

–

–

2,400,000

30 April 2010

From 30 April 2012
to 29 April 2020

30 April 2012

1.05

1.05

3,200,000

–

–

3,200,000

30 April 2010

From 30 April 2013
to 29 April 2020

30 April 2013

1.05

1.05

2,400,000

–

–

2,400,000

28 June 2011

From 28 June 2012
to 27 June 2021

28 June 2012

0.79

0.79

2,400,000

–

–

2,400,000

28 June 2011

From 28 June 2013
to 27 June 2021

28 June 2013

0.79

0.79

3,200,000

–

–

3,200,000

28 June 2011

From 28 June 2014
to 27 June 2021

28 June 2014

0.79

0.79

1,200,000

–

–

1,200,000

6 August 2012

From 6 August 2013 6 August 2013
to 5 August 2022

0.375

0.375

1,200,000

–

–

1,200,000

6 August 2012

From 6 August 2014 6 August 2014
to 5 August 2022

0.375

0.375

1,600,000

–

–

1,600,000

6 August 2012

From 6 August 2015 6 August 2015
to 5 August 2022

0.375

0.375

20,000,000

–

–

20,000,000

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 21,026,000 share options outstanding under the Scheme
which represented approximately 2.53% of the Company’s shares. The exercise in full of the remaining share options
would, under the present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of 21,026,000 additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share capital of HK$2,103,000 and share premium of HK$15,913,000 (before
issue expenses).
At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company had 21,026,000 share options outstanding
under the Scheme, which represented approximately 2.53% of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date.
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31. Reserves
(a)

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity of the financial statements.
The Group’s contributed surplus represents (i) the excess of the nominal value of the shares of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the reorganisation of certain subsidiaries of the Group which took place
in a prior year, over the nominal value of CIL’s shares issued in exchange therefor; and (ii) the excess of the
nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation, over the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.

(b)

Company

Note
At 1 April 2012
Equity-settled share option
arrangements
Transfer of share option reserve
upon forfeiture of share option
Total comprehensive income
for the year
2012 final dividends declared
and paid

13

At 31 March 2013 and 1 April 2013
Equity-settled share option
arrangements
Transfer of share option reserve
upon forfeiture of share option
Total comprehensive income
for the year
2013 final dividends declared
and paid
At 31 March 2014

13

Share Contributed
premium
surplus
HK$’000
HK$’000

Share
option
reserve
HK$’000

Retained
profits
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

386,419

353,435

5,609

126,866

872,329

–

–

1,982

–

1,982

–

–

(167)

167

–

–

–

–

(464)

(464)

–

–

–

(14,940)

(14,940)

386,419

353,435

7,424

111,629

858,907

–

–

780

–

780

–

–

(111)

111

–

–

–

–

(651)

(651)

–

–

–

(14,940)

(14,940)

386,419

353,435

8,093

96,149

844,096

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the fair value of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the group reorganisation, over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefor.
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32. Operating Lease Arrangements
The Group leases certain of its office properties, warehouses, factories and staff quarters under operating lease
arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging from one to five years (2013: one to ten years).
At 31 March 2014, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
falling due as follows:
Group

Within one year
In the second to fifth years, inclusive

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

26,760
10,588

25,706
22,005

37,348

47,711

33. Commitments
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 32 above, the Group had the following capital
commitments at the end of the reporting period:
Group

Contracted, but not provided for:
Leasehold improvements
Plant and machinery

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

380
3,514

673
1,027

3,894

1,700

At the end of the reporting period, the Company did not have any significant commitments.
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34. Contingent Liabilities
At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not provided for in the financial statements were as
follows:

Banking facilities
Group

Company

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

Corporate guarantees given to banks
in respect of facilities granted
to subsidiaries

–

–

723,119

740,112

Amount of banking facilities guaranteed
by the Company and utilised
by subsidiaries

–

–

320,618

304,864

35. Related Party Transactions
In addition to the transactions and balances set out elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the
following significant related party transactions during the year.

(a)

The Group had the following material transactions with a related party during the year:

An associate
Sale of finished goods

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

38,999

46,518

The sales were made with reference to the prices and conditions offered to the major customer of the
Group.
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35. Related Party Transactions (continued)
(b)

Outstanding balance with a related party
Group
Note
Balance due to an associate

(i)

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

4

4

Note:
(i)

(c)

The balance is unsecured, non-interest-bearing and has no specific terms of repayment. Details of the Group’s
trade balances with its associates as at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in note 22 to the financial
statements.

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

Short term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

22,480
152

24,236
127

22,632

24,363

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 9 to the financial statements.
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36. Financial Instruments by Category
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

Group

Financial assets
2014

Available-for-sale investment
Trade receivables
Financial assets included in deposits and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Loans and
receivables
HK$’000

Availablefor-sale
financial asset
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

–
560,681
12,272
590,907

7,750
–
–
–

7,750
560,681
12,272
590,907

1,163,860

7,750

1,171,610

Loans and
receivables
HK$’000

Availablefor-sale
financial asset
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

–
556,677
14,634
516,063

7,750
–
–
–

7,750
556,677
14,634
516,063

1,087,374

7,750

1,095,124

2013

Available-for-sale investment
Trade receivables
Financial assets included in deposits and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
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36. Financial Instruments by Category (continued)
Company

Financial assets
Loans and receivables

Due from subsidiaries
Financial assets included in deposits and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

362,212
6
212,036

335,170
13
254,419

574,254

589,602

Group

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

Trade and bills payables
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accrued liabilities
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Amount due to an associate
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders
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2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

525,291
54,017
320,618
4
160

426,248
56,404
304,864
4
160

900,090

787,680

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2014

36. Financial Instruments by Category (continued)
Company

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accrued liabilities

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

331

312

37. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank loans, cash and bank balances and time deposits. The
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade and other receivables, deposits, trade and bills payables and other
payables, which arise directly from its operations.
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. Management meets periodically to analyse and formulate measurements to manage the Group’s
exposure to financial risks. Generally, the Group employs a conservative strategy regarding its risk management.
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37. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued)
(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s debt
obligations with floating interest rates.
The interest rates and the terms of repayment of the Group’s bank borrowings are disclosed in note 27.
The Group did not use any derivative instruments to hedge against its exposure to interest rate risk.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on interest-bearing
bank borrowings and bank deposits) and the Group’s equity.

Increase/
(decrease) in
basis points

112

Increase/
(decrease)
in profit
before tax
HK$’000

Increase/
(decrease)
in equity
HK$’000

2014
Hong Kong dollars
United States dollars

50
50

(1,086)
1,309

(1,086)
1,309

Hong Kong dollars
United States dollars

(50)
(50)

1,086
(1,309)

1,086
(1,309)

2013
Hong Kong dollars
United States dollars

50
50

(837)
1,087

(837)
1,087

Hong Kong dollars
United States dollars

(50)
(50)

837
(1,087)

837
(1,087)
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37. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued)
(ii)

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market rate relates primarily to the Group’s sales and
purchases which are mainly denominated in United States dollars and, to a lesser extent, Euro zone
currencies. Certain production and operating overheads of the Group’s production facilities in Mainland
China are denominated in RMB. Due to the fact that the Hong Kong dollars are pegged to the United
States dollars, the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk regarding United States dollars is low.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of certain trade and other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, bank borrowings and trade and other payables which are denominated in RMB and EUR at the
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the respective exchange rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax and equity (due to changes in the fair value of
monetary assets and liabilities, including trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and trade
and other payables).

Increase/
(decrease) in
RMB/EUR rate
%

Increase/
(decrease)
in profit
before tax
HK$’000

5
5

11,893
3,767

(5)
(5)

(11,893)
(3,767)

2013
If Hong Kong dollars weaken against RMB
If Hong Kong dollars weaken against EUR

5
5

9,469
2,650

If Hong Kong dollars strengthen against RMB
If Hong Kong dollars strengthen against EUR

(5)
(5)

(9,469)
(2,650)

2014
If Hong Kong dollars weaken against RMB
If Hong Kong dollars weaken against EUR
If Hong Kong dollars strengthen against RMB
If Hong Kong dollars strengthen against EUR
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37. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued)
(iii)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. Outstanding
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis.
The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents and other
receivables, arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amounts of these instruments.
Since the Group trades only with creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for collateral.
Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty, by geographical region and by
industry sector. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk with the Group as the customer bases
of the Group’s trade receivables were widely dispersed in different sectors and industries.
Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements.

(iv)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the
use of bank overdrafts and loans. In addition, banking facilities have been put in place for contingency
purposes.
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows:
Group

Trade and bills payables
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accrued liabilities
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Amount due to an associate
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders
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2014
Within one year/
On demand
HK$’000

2013
Within one year/
On demand
HK$’000

525,291
54,017
320,618
4
160

426,248
56,404
304,864
4
160

900,090

787,680

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2014

37. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued)
(iv)

Liquidity risk (continued)
Company

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accrued liabilities
Guarantees given to banks in connection with banking facilities
utilised by subsidiaries

(v)

2014
Within one year/
On demand
HK$’000

2013
Within one year/
On demand
HK$’000

331

312

320,618

304,864

320,949

305,176

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise
shareholders’ value.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 March 2014 and 2013.
The Group’s capital comprises all components of equity. As at 31 March 2014, the Group had net cash of
HK$270,289,000 (2013: HK$211,199,000), representing total cash and cash equivalents less total interestbearing bank borrowings.
The Group is subject to capital requirements imposed by various banks for banking facilities granted.
During the year, the Group has complied with the capital requirements imposed by these banks.

38. Approval of the Financial Statements
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 June 2014.
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Financial Summary
Results
Year ended 31 March

REVENUE

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

2012
HK$’000

2011
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

2,814,290

2,526,587

2,428,804

2,664,579

2,191,984

PROFIT BEFORE TAX
INCOME TAX EXPENSE

42,898
(9,036)

33,835
(2,736)

41,027
(7,786)

51,888
4,674

41,966
(7,124)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

33,862

31,099

33,241

56,562

34,842

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

33,874
(12)

31,111
(12)

33,252
(11)

56,572
(10)

34,854
(12)

33,862

31,099

33,241

56,562

34,842

Assets, Liabilities and Non-controlling Interests
As at 31 March

TOTAL ASSETS
TOTAL LIABILITIES

2014
HK$’000

2013
HK$’000

2012
HK$’000

2011
HK$’000

2010
HK$’000

2,028,855

1,932,006

1,882,171

1,907,882

1,742,115

(873,385)

(843,741)

(891,451)

(779,055)

(951,209)

NET ASSETS

1,077,646

1,058,621

1,038,430

1,016,431

963,060

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

1,076,837

1,057,800

1,037,597

1,015,587

962,206

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

809

821

833

844

854

1,077,646

1,058,621

1,038,430

1,016,431

963,060

TOTAL EQUITY
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